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Oyu Tolgoi Project, Mongolia
Development of planned copper-gold 
mining complex and regional exploration

Ovoot Tolgoi Project, Mongolia
New coal mine in operation and ongoing 
exploration discoveries (SouthGobi Energy 
Resources)

Altynalmas Gold Projects, Kazakhstan 
Development of established gold resources 
(Ivanhoe Mines venture with Kazakh partners)

Mamahak Project, Indonesia 
Development of new, surface coal mine and 
exploration (SouthGobi Energy Resources)

Cloncurry Project, Australia 
Copper, gold, uranium, molybdenum and
rhenium discoveries and exploration 
(Ivanhoe Australia)

Savage River, Australia 
Iron-ore mine (sale proceeds)

This report is printed on recycled paper containing 
10% post-consumer waste and is recyclable.

COVER
Driving toward Hugo: Jumbo drill stabilizing rock walls
1,300 metres below the Gobi Desert at Oyu Tolgoi
in the tunnel being driven from Shaft #1 to provide
exploration access to the large, Hugo Dummett
copper-gold deposit.

IVANHOE MINES is an international mining, explo-
ration and development company with operations
focused in the Asia Pacific region.

Ivanhoe’s core assets are:
Its 100% ownership of the Oyu Tolgoi copper and
gold discoveries and planned mining and process-
ing complex now in an advanced, pre-construction
development stage in Mongolia’s South Gobi 
region. Oyu Tolgoi is the world’s largest undevel-
oped copper-gold porphyry deposit.

Its 80% shareholding in Asia-based coal miner
SouthGobi Energy Resources (SGQ:TSXv). South-
Gobi is expanding its sales to customers in
China of high-quality coal from the company’s
new Ovoot Tolgoi Mine in southern Mongolia and
developing a new coal mine in East Kalimantan,
Indonesia.

Its 83% shareholding in Ivanhoe Australia
(IVA:ASX), a copper-gold-uranium exploration and
development company. Ivanhoe Australia has
reported significant discoveries of copper, molyb-
denum and rhenium on its large por tfolio of
tenements in the historic Mount Isa-Cloncurry
mining district during the past year.

Ivanhoe also is exploring for additional high-quality,
world-scale copper and gold discoveries in China
and is a principal shareholder in Altynalmas Gold,
which has significant gold resources in Kazakhstan.

Ivanhoe Mines’ shares are listed on the New York,
Toronto and NASDAQ stock exchanges under the
symbol IVN.
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Jining

Erenhot

Shuozhou

Jungar

Shenmu

Linhe

Wuhai

Ejin Qi

Ceke

Tongliao

Baotou
steel-making
industrial centre

(to Huanghua Harbour in Bohai Bay)

Port of Tianjin
(exports to Japan & Korea)

Bayan Obo

BEIJ ING

Tavan Tolgoi
(coal)

Sumber (coal)

Ovoot Tolgoi
coal mine

Trans-Manchurian
Railway

Trans-Mongolian
Railway

Trans-Mongolian Railway
(link to Europe)

Jiayuguan
Trans-China

Railway

Nariin Sukhait
coal mine

120 km coal seam

Datong

Kharmagtai
(copper-gold)

BOHAI GULF
(to Pacific Ocean)

(China’s largest coalport)

Port of
Qinhuangdao

Wuyuan

Jiuquan

(to Hami)

Ganqimaodu

Tsagaan Tolgoi
(coal)

Dalanzadgad

(2009 complet on)i

Khanbogd

(to Linhe)

Jinquan
industrial
   centre

(2011 completion)

steel-making
industrial centre

Gashuun Sukhait

Oyu Tolgoi
planned mine

(copper-gold)

ULAANBAATAR

M ONGOL IA

CH INA

0 250

kilometres

Major, paved road

by Mongolian Government
Tavan Tolgoi coal deposit, controlled

Planned railwayI l l l l

Mineral licences owned or controlled
by Ivanhoe

Coal licences owned or controlled
by Ivanhoe

Railway under constructionI l l l l

New railway 
(Jiayuguan to Mongolia border)

I l l l l

Documented coal occurrence

Nariin Sukhait coal mine 
(MAK-Qin Hua JV)

Ivanhoe Mines’ principal discoveries
and/or development projects

Permian-Age coal-bearing basin

Unpaved road (border to Oyu Tolgoi, 
80 km; border to Ovoot Tolgoi, 45 km)

C h i n a

Mo n g o l i a

Seoul

Tokyo
Shanghai

R u s s i a

Beijing

Ulaanbaatar

Procession of Chinese trucks, each being loaded
with 100 tonnes of coal, in an export production line

in one of the pits at the new Ovoot Tolgoi Mine in
southern Mongolia.

Ovoot Tolgoi Coal – On China’s Doorstep
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OSBORNE

MOUNT ISA MINE

ERNEST HENRY

DUGAL
RIVER

ELOISE

PHOSPHATE  HILL

TICK HILL

CANNINGTON

KURIDALA

Dajarra

Cloncurry

Mount Isa

AMETHYST CASTLE

METAL  RIDGE

MOUNT ELLIOTT / SWAN

MERLIN

STARRA

GREAT
AUSTRALIA

VICTORIA

MOUNT COBALT

DOREMOUNT
I I I I I I I

mine operating

airport

road

railway

Ivanhoe discovery/prospect

,  or closed

Ivanhoe exploration licence

0 50

kilometres

Ivanhoe exploration licence application

Ivanhoe mining licence

Ivanhoe-Exco joint venture

Ivanhoe-Glengarry joint venture

Matrix mining licence to 100 m depth

Q u e e n s l a n d
(A u s tr a l i a )

B r i s b a n e

To w n s v i l l e
(s e a p o r t)

C o r a l S e a

Mount Isa

IVANHOE  AUSTRALIAUSTRALIA’’SS
CLONCURRY  PROJECTROJECT

Merlin: The New Horizon in Modern Metals

The discovery of high-grade molybdenum and rhenium
mineralization at Ivanhoe Australia’s Merlin Project,
near Cloncurry, in northwestern Queensland, was 
reported in December 2008. The molybdenum occurs

as molybdenite, evident in the section of drill core.
Rhenium, a rare metal, is used in super-alloys 
required in high-performance applications, including
rocket thrusters and turbine blades in aircraft engines.
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IVANHOE MINES LTD.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Stated in U.S. dollars except where noted)

INTRODUCTION

This discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations (MD&A) of Ivanhoe Mines
Ltd. should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. and the
notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2008. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with United States of America generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). In this MD&A, unless the
context otherwise dictates, a reference to the Company refers to Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. and a reference to Ivanhoe
Mines refers to Ivanhoe Mines Ltd., together with its subsidiaries.

Additional information about the Company, including its Annual Information Form, is available at
www.sedar.com.

References to “C$” refer to Canadian dollars, “A$” to Australian dollars, and ‘‘$” to United States dollars.

This MD&A contains forward-looking statements. Please refer to the cautionary language on page 47.

The effective date of this MD&A is March 31, 2009.

OVERVIEW

HIGHLIGHTS

• Completion of an Investment Agreement for the development of the Oyu Tolgoi copper-gold mining
complex will continue to be a principal priority for Mongolia’s coalition government when the
Parliament reconvenes during the first week of April in its 2009 spring session. A draft agreement was
approved in principle by the Mongolian Cabinet and National Security Council in March and Ivanhoe
Mines is awaiting Parliament’s review and approval.

• In December 2008, Ivanhoe Mines discovered a new zone of high-grade gold and copper mineral-
ization at Oyu Tolgoi, between the previously discovered Heruga Deposit and the Southwest Oyu
Deposit.

• The Oyu Tolgoi mineralized structural corridor, as currently defined, now has a total strike length in
excess of 20 kilometres — encompassing Oyu Tolgoi in the centre and more recent extensions to the
south and north onto the joint Ivanhoe-Entrée agreement area.

• Ivanhoe Mines’ 80%-owned subsidiary, SouthGobi Energy Resources (SouthGobi) (SGQ — TSX.V),
commenced sales of high-quality thermal coal at its Ovoot Tolgoi mine in southern Mongolia in
September 2008.

• SouthGobi received an initial NI 43-101 resource report for its Mamahak metallurgical coal project in
East Kalimantan, Indonesia. SouthGobi is studying the opportunity to begin surface coal mining at the
Mamahak Project later this year.

• Ivanhoe Mines’ 83%-owned subsidiary, Ivanhoe Australia Limited (Ivanhoe Australia) (IVA — ASX),
has discovered a new, high-grade molybdenum and rhenium deposit at its Merlin Project on its
Cloncurry tenements in northwestern Queensland. Drilling continues to encounter significant inter-
cepts of high-grade molybdenum and rhenium and expand the size of the deposit, which is open along
strike and to depth.

• Ivanhoe Australia has significantly expanded the mineralization of its Swan high-grade copper-gold
zone at the Mount Elliott Project.

4



• Ivanhoe Mines, together with several Kazakh strategic partners, is advancing the Altynalmas Gold
Project in Kazakhstan.

• In May 2008, Ivanhoe Mines sold its shareholdings of Jinshan Gold Mines. Proceeds received totalled
$216.7 million. Ivanhoe Mines recorded a $201.4 million gain on the sale of its interest in Jinshan in
Q2’08.

• Ivanhoe Mines incurred $260.3 million in exploration and mine development expenses in 2008, down
from $304.0 million in 2007.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Ivanhoe Mines is primarily engaged in exploration activities, although a significant portion of its expenditures
relate directly to development work at its Oyu Tolgoi Project. Exploration costs are charged to operations in the
period incurred and often represent the bulk of Ivanhoe Mines’ operating loss for that period. Ivanhoe Mines expects
to commence capitalizing Oyu Tolgoi construction and development costs once an Investment Agreement is
finalized with the Government of Mongolia.

In 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded a net loss of $184.1 million (or $0.49 per share), compared to a net loss of
$457.7 million (or $1.22 per share) in 2007, representing a decrease of $273.6 million. Results for 2008 were mainly
affected by $260.3 million in exploration expenses, $27.5 million in general and administrative expenses,
$17.6 million in interest expense, $62.9 million in mainly unrealized foreign exchange losses, offset by a
$201.4 million gain on the sale of the Company’s controlling stake in Jinshan Gold Mines Inc. and $34.0 million
in income from discontinued operations.

Exploration expense of $260.3 million in 2008 decreased $43.7 million from $304.0 million in 2007. The
exploration expenses included $207.3 million spent in Mongolia, primarily for Oyu Tolgoi and Ovoot Tolgoi
($274.9 million in 2007), and $46.5 million incurred by Ivanhoe Australia ($22.1 million in 2007).

Ivanhoe Mines’ cash position, on a consolidated basis at December 31, 2008, was approximately
$384.1 million.
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SELECTED ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

This selected financial information is in accordance with U.S. GAAP as presented in the annual consolidated
financial statements.

2008 2007 2006
Years Ended December 31,

($ in millions of U.S. dollars, except
per share information)

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.1 $ — $ —

Exploration expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (260.3) (304.0) (213.0)

General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (27.5) (27.1) (28.2)

Foreign exchange (losses) gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (62.9) 11.9 0.4

Gain on sale of long-term investment and note receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 201.4 1.0 2.7

Write-down of carrying value of investment held for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (134.3) —

Write-down of carrying value of long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7.1) — (1.0)

Write-down of carrying value of other long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18.0) (24.5) —

Net loss from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(218.1) $(489.6) $(218.3)

Net income from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34.0 31.9 19.6

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(184.1) $(457.7) $(198.7)

Net loss per share from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.58) $ (1.31) $ (0.65)

Net income per share from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.09 0.09 0.06

Net loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.49) $ (1.22) $ (0.59)

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 742.2 $ 530.2 $ 703.2

Total long-term financial liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 354.4 $ 142.9 $ 5.1

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Ivanhoe Mines is an international mining company with operations in Central Asia and the Asia Pacific region.
Principal assets include:

• Ivanhoe Mines’ 100%-owned Oyu Tolgoi Copper and Gold Project in southern Mongolia.

• Ivanhoe Mines’ 80% stake in SouthGobi, which is producing and selling coal from its Ovoot Tolgoi Mine in
southern Mongolia to customers in China and has ongoing exploration and development programs at several
other Mongolian and Indonesian coal prospects.

• Ivanhoe Mines’ 83% stake in Ivanhoe Australia, which is exploring its Cloncurry Iron-Oxide-Copper-Gold
(IOCG) Project in Queensland, Australia.

• Ivanhoe Mines’ 49% interest in Altynalmas Gold which owns the Bakyrchik Gold Mine in Kazakhstan.

Ivanhoe Mines is primarily engaged in exploration activities, although a significant portion of its expenditures
relate directly to development work at its Oyu Tolgoi Project. Exploration costs are charged to operations in the
period incurred and often represent the bulk of Ivanhoe Mines’ operating loss for that period. Ivanhoe Mines expects
to commence capitalizing Oyu Tolgoi development costs once an Investment Agreement is finalized with the
Government of Mongolia.
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In 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded a net loss of $184.1 million (or $0.49 per share), compared to a net loss of
$457.7 million (or $1.22 per share) in 2007, representing a decrease of $273.6 million. Results for 2008 were mainly
affected by $260.3 million in exploration expenses, $27.5 million in general and administrative expenses,
$17.6 million in interest expense, $62.9 million in mainly unrealized foreign exchange losses, which were offset
by a $201.4 million gain on the sale of the Company’s controlling stake in Jinshan Gold Mines Inc. and
$34.0 million in income from discontinued operations.

Exploration expense of $260.3 million in 2008 decreased $43.7 million from $304.0 million in 2007. The
exploration expenses included $207.3 million spent in Mongolia, primarily for Oyu Tolgoi and Ovoot Tolgoi
($274.9 million in 2007), and $46.5 million incurred by Ivanhoe Australia ($22.1 million in 2007).

Ivanhoe Mines’ cash position, on a consolidated basis at December 31, 2008, was approximately
$384.1 million.

Ivanhoe Mines, like other companies, is monitoring the developments in capital markets that have added new
conditions and restraints on access to debt and equity financing. The Company is reviewing its 2009 capital
investment program. Ivanhoe Mines is prepared to reconsider its projected pre-construction spending on the Oyu
Tolgoi Project and if, necessary, act decisively to further curtail spending if sufficient progress is not made toward
the timely conclusion of an Investment Agreement with the Mongolian Government.

Ivanhoe Mines remains focused on the completion of an Investment Agreement that is necessary to begin
construction of the Oyu Tolgoi Project. Finalization of an Investment Agreement was delayed by a series of
Mongolian political events during the past year, including a mid-year national general election. However, in
February 2009, Ivanhoe Mines and its strategic partner, Rio Tinto, negotiated a draft Investment Agreement with a
new Working Group appointed by the Mongolian Government. The draft Investment Agreement was approved in
principle by the Cabinet and the National Security Council and has been introduced into the State Great Khural,
Mongolia’s national Parliament. Parliament’s consideration of the draft agreement began in March 2009 during an
extended special session. Following the expiration of the second session and requests by some Members of
Parliament for additional clarification and review, the discussion was adjourned to the regular spring session of
Parliament scheduled to begin in early April 2009.

A. EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES

In 2008, Ivanhoe Mines expensed $260.3 million in exploration and development activities, compared to
$304.0 million in 2007. In 2008, Ivanhoe Mines’ exploration activities were largely focused in Mongolia and
Australia.
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Summary of exploration and development expenditures by location:

2008 2007

Years Ended
December 31,

($000’s of U.S. dollars)

Mongolia

Oyu Tolgoi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $155,999 $245,520

Coal Division . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,696 14,760

Other Mongolia Exploration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,560 14,595

207,255 274,875

Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,457 22,096

Indonesia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,547 3,669
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,022 3,384

$260,281 $304,024

MONGOLIA

OYU TOLGOI COPPER-GOLD PROJECT

The Oyu Tolgoi Project is approximately 550 kilometres south of Ulaanbaatar and 80 kilometres north of the
Mongolia-China border. Mineralization on the property consists of copper, gold and molybdenum contained in a
porphyry system that has been established to date along a structural corridor that extends over 20 kilometres.
Mineral resources have been identified in a series of deposits along this corridor, including the Southern Oyu group
of deposits, the Hugo Dummett Deposit and the Heruga Deposit. In March 2008, an updated Oyu Tolgoi Technical
Report prepared by GRD Minproc Limited was released. This estimate can be found in the 2008 Annual
Information Form on www.sedar.com.

In 2008, Ivanhoe Mines incurred exploration expenses of $156.0 million at Oyu Tolgoi compared to the
$245.5 million incurred in 2007. The $156.0 million included a significant portion of expenditures related directly
to development work. It is expected that Ivanhoe Mines will commence capitalizing Oyu Tolgoi development costs
once an Investment Agreement is finalized with the Government of Mongolia.

Oyu Tolgoi awaiting an approved Investment Agreement

For several years now, the completion of an acceptable Investment Agreement with the Government of
Mongolia for the development of the Oyu Tolgoi Project has been a priority for Ivanhoe Mines.

Mongolia’s Minerals Law provides for the completion of Investment Agreements to establish long-term
stability of taxation and other fiscal policies and assurances regarding the operational environment necessary for
new mine developments. Any eventual Investment Agreement will be reviewed and approved by the State Great
Khural, which is Mongolia’s national Parliament.

An initial draft Investment Agreement was negotiated by Ivanhoe Mines and its strategic partner, Rio Tinto,
with the Government of Mongolia in 2007. While this draft agreement was reviewed by a Parliamentary standing
committee in late 2007, it subsequently was withdrawn by Prime Minister S. Bayar in December 2007, ahead of the
June 2008 general election, for review and evaluation by an independent international expert.

The governing Mongolian People’s Revolutionary Party (MPRP) won a clear majority in the June 2008
election, gaining more than 60% of the 76 seats in Parliament. Following the election, the MPRP and opposition
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Democratic Party (DP) agreed to establish a coalition government. Under the terms of the coalition government, the
MPRP holds 60% of the cabinet seats, with 40% allocated to DP members. An action plan adopted by the coalition
government assigned a high priority to ensuring that large, strategic mineral deposits, including the Oyu Tolgoi
Project, are put into economic production.

In January 2009, Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto re-started negotiations with a newly formed Government
Working Group for a competitive Investment Agreement that would recognize the realities of the current
international investment environment and the economic benefits inherent in the development of the Oyu Tolgoi
Project.

In late February 2009, the negotiators reached agreement on an acceptable draft Investment Agreement and a
companion Shareholders’ Agreement. The draft agreements were reviewed and approved in principle by the
Cabinet and the National Security Council. Following the completion of negotiations, each page of the draft
Investment Agreement was initialled by representatives of the Mongolian Cabinet and of Ivanhoe Mines Mongolia
Inc. before the document was presented to Parliament as part of the final approval process.

In March, the draft agreement was introduced into Parliament, which was meeting in an extraordinary winter
session to address budgetary measures related to the international financial crisis, and also the anticipated Oyu
Tolgoi agreement.

On March 13, after an initial review of the Oyu Tolgoi Investment Agreement by the Parliament’s Standing
Committee on Economics, the Parliament announced that the extension of the winter session would adjourn and that
further discussions regarding the agreements would resume during the regular spring session in early April. A news
release issued by the Parliament’s press office stated, in part, that resumption of the review of the Oyu Tolgoi
Investment Agreement would be placed “at the top of the government’s action agenda to help ensure that new
investment is directed to Mongolia and new jobs are created for Mongolians to help our economy weather the
present international financial crisis.”

The release also stated: “The coalition government believes that the draft agreement represents a significant
step forward in the development of Mongolia’s mineral wealth to benefit present and future generations of
Mongolians, and the nation.”

The Parliament’s press statement noted that the Standing Committee on Economics had made significant
progress in reviewing the agreement and that Members of Parliament had requested that certain points be clarified.
A Working Group formed to address the issues was directed to continue its review during the break between the
parliamentary sessions.

Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto are continuing their cooperation with the Working Group during the short
parliamentary recess to prepare additional information to facilitate an early approval of the agreements by
Parliament. Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto remain prepared to complete an Investment Agreement with the
Government that is equitable and fair for both sides.

The companies also are continuing to assess the implications for the Oyu Tolgoi Project and its development
schedule as a result of the delays in approval that have been experienced in Mongolia, the sharp declines in certain
commodity prices and continuing uncertainty in international financial markets.

Oyu Tolgoi Project Development

Underground development program advancing at high-grade Hugo Dummett North Deposit

Ivanhoe Mines completed the construction of its No. 1 Shaft at the Oyu Tolgoi Project to the full depth of 1,380
metres in February 2008 as planned. No. 1 Shaft has a diameter of 7.3 metres, is concrete-lined to a finished
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diameter of 6.7 metres, and includes a headframe, hoisting facilities, power station, air compressors and ventilation
equipment. The design allows for future conversion to permit the shaft to be used as a permanent hoisting facility.
Following completion of the shaft loadout facilities in March 2008, two lateral characterization tunnels were
commenced at the proposed Lift 1 elevation of the Hugo North block-cave mine. The tunnels will enable further
resource drilling, which will provide geotechnical information to support completion of the mine design and
become part of the pre-production program for the development of the initial block cave.

A total of 594 metres was developed laterally at the 1,300-metre level by the underground mining contractor,
utilizing Ivanhoe Mines’ fleet of underground mining equipment. The development included the establishment of
the “station” at the 1,300-metre level and incorporated a substation, a refuge chamber, a pump station and a heavy-
equipment workshop. On August 16, 2008, a portion of an empty fuel tank being lowered down Shaft No. 1 broke
loose from its hoisting harness at the 205-metre level and fell approximately 1,100 metres to the bottom of the shaft.
Standard safety precautions routinely observed during such operations ensured that no employees were in direct
danger from the falling equipment. The incident caused damage to the shaft infrastructure, including ventilation
ducting and electrical cabling. Shaft repairs were completed in February 2009.

On March 12, 2009, Ivanhoe Mines Mongolia regretfully announced that an industrial accident in Shaft No. 1
at Oyu Tolgoi had resulted in fatal injuries to a 31-year-old employee of Redpath, a contracting company in charge
of shaft and underground operations, and non-life-threatening injuries to two colleagues. The accident occurred
when a length of electrical cable apparently separated from support brackets and fell onto a work platform. The Oyu
Tolgoi project has a rigorous safety program, which extends to all contractors and site personnel. Ivanhoe Mines
Mongolia and Redpath are participating in the accident investigation with Mongolian authorities.

Other work conducted during 2008 included the preparation of the pre-production development implemen-
tation plan. The draft plan, which was formulated during Q3’08, outlines the schedule and methodology, with the
objective of maximizing the value from the No. 1 Shaft before the No. 2 Shaft is commissioned. In November 2008,
underground operations were scaled back and the workforce was reduced by 50%. Work has continued with a day-
shift only.

Construction of the No. 2 Shaft started in 2007 with the excavation of the shaft collar. By December 2007,
concrete work had been completed to a point 13 metres below the surface. No. 2 Shaft will be a combined
production/service shaft and is being designed to accommodate two 54-tonne-capacity skips and a cage with a
payload capacity of 44 tonnes. The shaft will have a finished diameter of 10 metres and will be sunk to an initial
depth of 1,466 metres. No work was undertaken on site for the No. 2 Shaft during 2008; however, detailed
engineering progressed as planned.

Ivanhoe Mines received $121.5 million from Rio Tinto from the sale of Oyu Tolgoi mining equipment

During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines received $121.5 million from Rio Tinto from the sale of large equipment to be
used in the construction of the Oyu Tolgoi copper and gold mining complex in Mongolia.

The $121.5 million related to an equipment-sale agreement that was executed in August 2008 between Ivanhoe
Mines and Rio Tinto. The agreement provided for Rio Tinto to purchase certain project equipment already
purchased or ordered by Ivanhoe Mines while Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto continue to engage the Government of
Mongolia in discussions on an acceptable Investment Agreement. Ivanhoe Mines plans to use these funds for future
development of Oyu Tolgoi. In addition, Rio Tinto can require Ivanhoe Mines to repurchase the equipment that has
been sold to Rio Tinto — and any other equipment purchased by Rio Tinto as part of this agreement — if an
acceptable Investment Agreement is reached with the Government of Mongolia. Ivanhoe Mines also has a right of
first refusal to repurchase the equipment if Rio Tinto deems it appropriate to use the equipment elsewhere.

11

IVANHOE MINES LTD.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Stated in U.S. dollars except where noted)



Engineering and development advancing in readiness for mine construction

The principal aims of the engineering and development team for 2008 were to keep the project in a position to
commence construction and development while maintaining a conservative cost profile. The completion of the
No. 1 Shaft and transition to the operations team occurred in Q2’08. Capital project work concentrated on the
progression of infrastructure and concentrator engineering, small-scale construction of some site infrastructure and
planning for the start of full-scale construction. These strategies resulted in a decrease of the project workforce to
approximately 600 people in the areas of engineering, construction and mining.

Ivanhoe Mines has continued to advance mine planning, engineering and pre-construction work, and will
prepare an update to the Oyu Tolgoi Project’s Integrated Development Plan once an acceptable Investment
Agreement has been negotiated with the Government of Mongolia and approved by all parties — including the
Board of Directors of Ivanhoe Mines.

Oyu Tolgoi Exploration

During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines completed approximately 36,092 metres of drilling on the Oyu Tolgoi project,
with 19,224 metres on the Heruga Entrée Joint Venture area and 9,000 metres on the area between Heruga and
Southwest Oyu. An additional 1,000 metres of drilling was completed on the area between Heruga and Southwest
Oyu in early 2009.

Additional drilling increases size of Heruga Deposit

In March 2008, Ivanhoe Mines announced the first resource estimate for the Heruga Deposit. Since March
2008, 14 exploration holes have been drilled that have targeted the western, southwestern and northern ends of the
Heruga Deposit. Drilling at the northern end of Heruga has significantly added to the size of the deposit. In
particular, hole EJD0034, at the northeast corner of the drilled area, just south of the Entrée Gold-IMMI JV licence
boundary, intersected approximately 200 metres of 1.8 g/t gold and 0.43% copper between 1,602 metres and 1,830
metres. This mineralization is open to the east. In the next section, 200 metres to the north across the JV boundary,
OTD1490 intersected 224 metres of 0.65g/t gold and 0.43% copper from 1,540 metres, including 68 metres of 1.1g/t
gold and 0.35% copper from 1,696 metres. The mineralization is open to the east and north. The additional drilling
has not yet been included in a resource update.

Oyu Tolgoi exploration now concentrated on gold-rich copper discovery between Heruga and Southern Oyu
Deposits

In December 2008, Ivanhoe Mines discovered a new zone of high-grade gold and copper mineralization, which
has characteristics of the earlier high-grade discoveries at the Hugo Dummett and Southwest Oyu deposits. The
latest discovery is highly significant because it indicates that there is a strong probability of an additional gold-rich
copper deposit between the previously discovered Heruga Deposit and the Southwest Oyu Deposit. An objective of
the ongoing drilling is to establish whether there is a continuous, high-grade mineralized connection between the
major Oyu Tolgoi deposits to the north and the Heruga Deposit to the south.

The discovery, which is open to expansion in all directions, is within Ivanhoe Mines’ 100%-owned Oyu Tolgoi
Mining Licence. It is located in the three-kilometre gap between the Heruga Deposit, which was discovered on the
joint Ivanhoe-Entrée licence area in 2007, and Ivanhoe Mines’ 100%-owned Southern Oyu deposits that were
delineated by Ivanhoe Mines’ earlier exploration between 2001 and 2005.

Holes OTD1487 and OTD1484 drilled on a section 1.5 kilometres north of the Heruga Deposit and 1.5
kilometres south of the Southwest Oyu Deposit targeted a gradient-array Induced Polarization (IP) chargeability
anomaly that extends from Heruga to Southwest Oyu. OTD1487A intersected zones of Southwest Oyu-style, high-
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grade copper and gold mineralization over a distance of 369.3 metres grading 0.83 g/t gold, 0.53% copper, and
64 ppm molybdenum (1.09% copper equivalent). This included an intersection of 78.3 metres grading 2.13 g/t gold,
0.82% copper and 126 ppm molybdenum (2.24% copper equivalent) between 2,258 and 2,336 metres downhole. In
addition, this also included a sub-interval of 16.3 metres grading 4.70 g/t gold, 1.56% copper and 168 ppm
molybdenum (4.64% copper equivalent). The hole ended at 2,336 metres in mineralization. Drilling is continuing
on this section.

Geological mapping and ground magnetometer surveys locate southern extension of Heruga Deposit

During 2008, detailed ground magnetometer surveys were carried out over the Heruga Deposit and its
extensions to the southwest and northeast. Detailed geological mapping is ongoing at Heruga over the same area as
the ground magnetometer survey. In conjunction, these surveys have resulted in a far better understanding of the
geology. The most important feature of note is a north-northeast-striking belt of andesitic dykes intruding a belt of
Carboniferous Ignimbrites and volcanics that is the surface manifestation of the zone between the East and West
Bor Tolgoi faults, where the Heruga Deposit is located some 1,000 metres below.

Broader reconnaissance geological mapping is also ongoing south of the Oyu Tolgoi licence. The highlight of
this mapping is the discovery of a faulted extension to the surface geology that hosts the Heruga Deposit. The
extension, on the Entrée Gold — Ivanhoe Mines joint-venture ground, is displaced two to three kilometres to the
west of the southern end of Heruga and continues for another three kilometres before being cut off by younger
granites. An IP anomaly is present where mineralization might be expected at depth below the Devonian cover
rocks.

Entrée Gold Joint Venture is being formed

In June 2008, the $35.0 million earn-in amount was reached on the Entrée Gold-Ivanhoe Mines joint-venture
agreement areas, which include the Heruga Deposit and the Hugo North Extension areas. Ivanhoe Mines now has
earned a participating interest of 80% in all minerals extracted below a sub-surface depth of 560 metres on the
optioned property and a 70% participating interest in all minerals extracted from surface to a depth of 560 metres.
An 80%-20% Ivanhoe Mines-Entrée Gold joint-venture is being formed. Ivanhoe Mines directly held approxi-
mately 14.6% of the issued and outstanding share capital of Entrée Gold at December 31, 2008.

MONGOLIA

COAL PROJECTS

SOUTHGOBI ENERGY RESOURCES (80% owned)

SouthGobi’s Ovoot Tolgoi coal mine in production

SouthGobi began mining and stockpiling coal at its Ovoot Tolgoi Project in southern Mongolia’s Gobi region
in April 2008. The Ovoot Tolgoi mine is 45 kilometres north of Mongolia’s border with China. The official start of
mining culminated months of development and preparations, including the delivery of a fleet of surface-mining
equipment valued at approximately $16 million during Q1’08.

At the beginning of June 2008, the mine started operating on a full-time 24-hour basis. Regular manpower
rotation at the site is in effect, with crew rotations every 14 days. At December 31, 2008, SouthGobi employed
222 employees in Mongolia, 10 of which are expatriates and 212 are Mongolian nationals. Of the 222 employees, 33
are in the Ulaanbaatar office, 185 are at the mine site and the remainder is at outlying, smaller offices close to the
mine site.
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Coal sales at the mine gate were initiated in late September 2008. During 2008, SouthGobi mined 1.16 million
tonnes of coal consisting of approximately 220,000 tonnes of oxidized steam coal and 940,000 tonnes of premium
coal. Total waste mined in 2008 was 2.5 million Bank Cubic Meters (BCM), resulting in a strip ratio of
approximately 2.19 BCM waste per tonne of saleable coal. SouthGobi recognized revenue of $3.1 million in
2008, representing approximately 113,000 tonnes of coal sold at an average realized selling price at the mine gate of
approximately $29 per tonne. Operating expenses consisted of cost of product sold of $0.9 million at an average
cash cost of product sold of $8.30 per tonne, mine administration costs of $1.0 million and depreciation and
depletion costs of $0.3 million.

Work on the new shop complex, camp and airstrip surfacing at Ovoot Tolgoi continued throughout Q4’08. The
airstrip surfacing project was completed at year end and certified in early 2009. The camp and shop building
contractor worked throughout most of the winter months, which should permit completion of the camp and the shop
facilities by mid-2009.

SouthGobi has experienced difficulty, from time to time, expediting the movement of its coal shipments
through the Ceke border point on the Mongolia-China border due to unpredictable opening hours and sporadic
closures. Prior to March 2009, the border crossing only operated five days a week, on dayshift, limiting the amount
of coal SouthGobi was able to sell to customers in China. As a result, SouthGobi has temporarily curtailed
production to decrease current mine stockpiles and preserve cash. On March 22, 2009, the border extended its
operations to seven days a week / eight hours a day. The Mongolian Government and SouthGobi are coordinating
efforts to open the border-crossing access 24 hours a day / seven days a week for SouthGobi’s coal shipments.

In 2008, SouthGobi ordered a second fleet of coal mining equipment for the open-pit mine at a cost of
approximately $31 million, of which a $16 million deposit has already been paid. The fleet is scheduled for delivery
late in Q2’09 and is expected to expand annual production capacity for the Ovoot Tolgoi mine to approximately
2.9 million tonnes in 2009.

SouthGobi has reported a revision of the previous independent resource estimate for the West Field at its
Ovoot Tolgoi coal mine in Mongolia

In July 2008, SouthGobi announced that its independent technical consultant, The Americas Group, Inc.
(TAG) of Lakewood, Colorado had prepared a new resource estimate for the West Field portion of the Ovoot Tolgoi
coal project in Mongolia. TAG subsequently advised SouthGobi, and SouthGobi announced in March 2009, that
errors had been discovered in the resource estimate and that these errors resulted in an overstatement of the
resources in the West Field reported by SouthGobi in July 2008, primarily in the indicated and inferred categories.
However, the current resource estimates for the separate South-East Field and the Ovoot Tolgoi underground project
are not affected by the errors. The current mining plan and operations at Ovoot Tolgoi, which are based on an earlier
estimate of the West Field coal resources as of December 31, 2006, are also unaffected.

SouthGobi will appoint a major international engineering firm to complete a new technical report for the
Ovoot Tolgoi project incorporating outstanding data obtained from drilling to the end of 2008, reflecting a redesign
of the surface mine to a depth of 300 metres from the present 250 metres, updating the resource models and
delineating reserves based on at least a pre-feasibility level of engineering. SouthGobi expects to receive this report
later in 2009. SouthGobi management believes this new report will more fully demonstrate the potential of the
Ovoot Tolgoi coal deposit.

SouthGobi made considerable progress in identifying additional resources at Ovoot Tolgoi in 2008, drilling
over 23,200 metres down to a depth of 800 metres in the West Field. In addition, there are 3,800 metres of drill data
from 2007 in the South-East Field that still require modelling. Interpretation of the 2008 drilling is still in progress
however it suggests that coal potential is continuous along strike and at depth. SouthGobi management is very
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encouraged by the drill results and believes that the data obtained will provide a basis for establishing additional
resources. Further exploration drilling is planned for the summer of 2009 aimed at expanding the Ovoot Tolgoi
Resource base still further.

The incorrect West Field resource estimate prepared by TAG is shown in Table 1 below:

Table 1: TAG Surface Coal Resources Summary for the West Field of the Ovoot
Tolgoi Project as of June 20, 2008

(incorrect — as originally reported in July 2008)

Resource Area
ASTM Coal

Rank
Measured
(Tonnes)

Indicated
(Tonnes)

Inferred
(Tonnes)

Resources at Ovoot Tolgoi

West Field . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . hvB to hvA 79,567,545 113,623,016 138,821,278

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 193,190,561 138,821,278

According to TAG, an arithmetical error in calculating the resources and an error in the resource model
resulted in the resource estimate being overstated. TAG has since corrected the errors and re-calculated the resource
estimate as shown in Table 2 below:

Table 2: TAG Surface Coal Resources Summary for the West Field of the Ovoot
Tolgoi Project as of June 20, 2008

(corrected)

Resource Area
ASTM Coal

Rank
Measured
(Tonnes)

Indicated
(Tonnes)

Inferred
(Tonnes)

Resources at Ovoot Tolgoi

West Field . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . hvB to hvA 74,973,000 27,687,000 18,761,000

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102,660,000 18,761,000

Including the restated West Field resource estimate, the estimated combined resources for the South-East Field
and the West Field of the Ovoot Tolgoi Project are shown in Table 3 below. The restated West Field resource
estimate is based on data to June 20, 2008. The resource estimate for the South-East Field is based on data to
December 31, 2006.

Table 3: Restated Ovoot Tolgoi West Field and South-East Field In-Place Surface
Coal Resources Summary

Resource Area
ASTM Coal

Rank
Measured
(Tonnes)

Indicated
(Tonnes)

Inferred
(Tonnes)

Resources at Ovoot Tolgoi

South-East Field . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . hvB to hvA 49,752,000 15,987,000 6,502,000

West Field . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . hvB to hvA 74,973,000 27,687,000 18,761,000

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168,399,000 25,263,000
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Ovoot Tolgoi Underground Project — thick seams of coking and semi-soft coals identified at depth provide
potential for the development of an underground mining operation

In March 2008, a NI 43-101-compliant resource estimate was filed on the underground mining potential at
Ovoot Tolgoi. The resource estimate is shown in Table 4.

Table 4: Underground Resources Summary for the West Field of the Ovoot
Tolgoi Project

Resource Area
ASTM Coal

Rank
Measured
(Tonnes)

Indicated
(Tonnes)

Inferred
(Tonnes)

Underground Resources
at Ovoot Tolgoi

West Field . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . mhB to hvA 3,867,000 12,590,000 36,735,000

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,457,000 36,735,000

The 2008 exploration program concentrated on the underground West Field. This drilling was conducted to
obtain additional information about the structure and quality of the deep underground coal mineralization.
SouthGobi expects to carry out the same type of program in 2009 on the South-East Field at Ovoot Tolgoi.
The drilling conducted in 2006 and 2007 has identified coking and semi-soft coal at depths of between 250 metres
and 600 metres below surface, beneath the lower boundaries of the planned open pits at the South-East and West
Fields. The 2008 program in the West Field has extended the depth of the potential mine to 700 metres. The No. 5
coal seam continues to be open to depth and along strike.

Sumber Project a new coal discovery near Ovoot Tolgoi

In June 2008, SouthGobi announced that it had intersected significant thicknesses in near-surface seams of
high-quality coking and thermal coal at the new Sumber Coal Project, including one intercept of 51.5 metres. The
Sumber Project is comprised of N, O and E Fields. Sumber starts 16 kilometres east of Ovoot Tolgoi and stretches to
the east for approximately 18 kilometres.

The 2008 drilling program was completed in Q4’08 and the results are expected to provide the basis for a
resource estimate in 2009. A geotechnical drilling program and water study are planned for 2009. Once completed,
mine planning will be initiated and an application for a mining licence will be submitted for development of this
project.

SouthGobi closed four equity financings in 2008

During 2008, SouthGobi completed four private-equity financings to raise a total of C$142.9 million. The bulk
of these financings were used to further develop Ovoot Tolgoi along with other development projects, exploration
activities and for general corporate and administrative purposes.

SouthGobi names senior Asia mining investment banker Alexander Molyneux as President to lead the expan-
sion of coal projects in Mongolia and Indonesia

In February 2009, SouthGobi announced the appointment of Alexander Molyneux as SouthGobi’s new
President, effective April 27, 2009. Mr. Molyneux will be responsible for business and corporate development
initiatives. Mr. Molyneux most recently was Managing Director, Head of Metals & Mining Investment Banking,
Asia Pacific, with Citigroup.
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INDONESIA

COAL PROJECTS

SOUTHGOBI ENERGY RESOURCES (80% owned)

SouthGobi increased its working interest in Mamahak Coal Project, Indonesia

In April 2008, SouthGobi signed a joint venture agreement to explore and develop the Mamahak Coal Project
in East Kalimantan, Indonesia. Through its participation in the joint venture, SouthGobi commenced the devel-
opment of a “greenfields” surface coal deposit in four concessions covering 22,976 hectares. SouthGobi had an
initial 56% interest in Mamahak, with provisions to increase its working interest to 100%. In September 2008,
SouthGobi announced that it had increased its working interest in the Mamahak Project from 56% to 85% for
consideration of $13.2 million, comprised of $8.0 million in cash and 320,000 SouthGobi common shares. The
Mamahak Project is ideally located to supply the Japanese, Korean, Indian and Chinese coastal markets.

In February 2009, SouthGobi announced that it received an initial independent NI 43-101-compliant resource
estimate for the Mamahak coal project. The SW and E resource blocks on the Mamahak concession contain
measured plus indicated coal resources of 12.2 million tonnes, with an additional inferred coal resource of
5.2 million tonnes. A recent bulk sample from the SW resource block within the Mamahak concession has
confirmed that the resource contains high-volatile metallurgical coking coal amenable to surface mining.

The resource estimate is based on 220 drill holes completed between March 2008 and November 5, 2008.
Further drilling and bulk sampling of “on-strike” extensions is continuing on both blocks.

The Mamahak Joint Venture is located in the Haloq coal-bearing formation. The coal found in this formation
generally is of a quality rank ranging from sub-bituminous to bituminous with low moisture content and high
fluidity values. The SW and E resource blocks cover approximately 638 hectares, approximately 3% of the total
land area of the four concessions. Reconnaissance and initial field mapping has started over the larger project area.
SouthGobi believes the area has the potential to host significant metallurgical coal resources.

On January 7, 2009, SouthGobi obtained a Location Permit from the local Government in East Kalimantan,
allowing SouthGobi to commence surface coal mining at the SW deposit. SouthGobi is planning to initially develop
the SW Block located within the Mamahak Project, which is the closest deposit to the Mahakam River. Mine
development and infrastructure construction continued through March 2009.

AUSTRALIA

IVANHOE AUSTRALIA (83% owned)

A$125 million IPO successfully completed; trading initiated on the Australian Stock Exchange

On August 5, 2008, Ivanhoe Mines announced the completion of subsidiary Ivanhoe Australia’s initial public
offering (IPO).

The IPO consisted of 62.5 million new shares at an offer price of A$2.00 per share, raising gross proceeds of
A$125.0 million. Ivanhoe Australia, which commenced trading on the Australian Stock Exchange on August 6
under symbol IVA, is using a major portion of the IPO proceeds to finance ongoing exploration and development
activities on its Cloncurry Project in northwestern Queensland. Also, A$38.4 million of the IPO proceeds was used
to partially repay a portion of the A$91.0 million inter-company loan from Ivanhoe Mines. The remaining
unsecured loan balance will mature in five years, with interest accruing after 18 months at the rate of BBR (Bank
Bill Rate) plus 2.50% per annum.
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Cloncurry IOCG Project reports ongoing discoveries

Ivanhoe Australia incurred exploration expenses of $46.5 million on the Cloncurry Project in 2008, compared
to $22.1 million in 2007. The increase of $24.4 million is largely due to increased exploration and also the inclusion
in 2008 of $8.6 million in non-cash stock compensation expense for qualifying rights issued to employees and
directors of Ivanhoe Australia at the time of its IPO.

Ivanhoe Australia currently holds 15 exploration permits for minerals and 20 mining leases that total
1,679 square kilometres. Applications have been filed for six additional exploration permits covering 757 square
kilometres.

Ivanhoe Australia’s key projects, all situated on granted Mining Leases, are Mount Elliott, Mount Dore, Starra
Line and the new Merlin molybdenum and rhenium project. Exploration and development work in 2008 focused on
infill drilling at Mount Elliott and extensional drilling at Mount Dore.

With the significant fall in metal prices and the difficult economic climate, steps were taken to significantly
reduce expenditures from the original IPO budget. This resulted in the reduction to four drill rigs and the
retrenchment of 25 staff. The focus of activities will be on the key development properties and less emphasis on
greenfields exploration. This strategy to conserve cash places Ivanhoe Australia in a strong financial position and
Ivanhoe Australia expects to be fully funded for its exploration and development programs for more than two years.

Major New Discovery of Molybdenum and Rhenium — Merlin Project

During Q4’08, Ivanhoe Australia announced the discovery of a significant zone of high-grade molybdenum
and rhenium mineralization, which was named the Merlin Project.

In exploration continuing into Q1’09, the Merlin discovery had been tested by approximately 90 drill holes and
the assay results of 75 drill holes had been returned.

The Merlin mineralized zone is a clearly defined, high-grade body of molybdenum (Mo) and rhenium (Re)
sulphide mineralization starting at a depth of about 100 metres and extending down-dip for over 400 metres, with an
indicated strike length of up to 900 metres.

Two sub-zones now are recognised within the Merlin mineralization: a molybdenum and rhenium-rich
footwall zone and a separate hangingwall zone rich in molybdenum, rhenium, copper and zinc.

The footwall zone, at or near the base of the shales above the silicified footwall siltstones, dips at 55 degrees to
the east and consists of high-grade molybdenum and rhenium mineralization. The hangingwall sub-zone, along the
sheared interface between the overlying phyllites and underlying black shales, dips at a shallower angle of between
30 and 45 degrees to the east, and also contains molybdenum and rhenium, but with higher copper and zinc. At
depth, this hangingwall zone becomes more copper and zinc dominant and the molybdenum grades decrease.

Toward the surface, the footwall and the hangingwall zones merge into one thinner, 55-degree east-dipping
zone. Discrete polymetallic sulphides overlie both the footwall and hangingwall molybdenum zones and continue
down-dip to the east.

The current strike length of the zone, for which results are available, is over 500 metres; however, miner-
alization has been found over a strike length of 900 metres in step-out holes. Drilling is continuing to the north on
100-metre step-out traverses, while infill drilling is required to extend the footwall zone.

Given the high-grade nature of these results, preliminary independent checks have been completed to ensure a
high level of quality assurance has been adhered to. This has caused delays for a number of the assay results.
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Preliminary project studies for evaluating the development options are progressing, with the mining, pro-
cessing and marketing aspects advanced to a higher level of detail. Given the apparent high value of rhenium in the
deposit, a critical area of metallurgical study is required to evaluate options for further processing of the
molybdenum sulphide concentrate to allow high rhenium recovery.

Mount Elliott Project

The Mount Elliott project hosts three principal zones of copper-gold mineralization: Mount Elliott, Swan and
Swell zones. Mineralization primarily is hosted in banded and brecciated calc-silicates and is associated with albite-
pyroxene-magnetite-chalcopyrite-pyrite alteration.

Drilling in 2008 focused on vertical infill drilling of the Swan Zone and angle drilling of the Swell zone from
the northeast under the Mount Elliott mine. The vertical drilling focused on the higher grade portion of the Swan
Zone and was successful in showing that the high grade trend of mineralization runs due east-west and dips steeply
north.

A total of 51,809 metres of infill drilling was completed during 2008, bringing the total Ivanhoe Australia
drilling in Mount Elliott to 132,000 metres in 205 holes. Recent drilling has focussed on exploring for a link
between the Mount Elliott, Swell and Swan zones at depth and to the north and on infill drilling prior to resource
estimation as at December 31, 2008. The mineralization encountered thus far at Mount Elliott is open to the north, at
depth and to the west.

Mount Dore Project

Metallurgical testwork on the project continues, with preliminary column heap-leach test results from the first
columns showing up to 74% copper recovery after only 18 days of leaching from a near-surface sample. It is
expected that the initial column leach tests will be completed soon, while results for the additional column leach
tests to finish the test program will be completed during Q3’09.

Additional copper oxide and transitional sulphide mineralization previously outlined — and in some case
mined — within the Ivanhoe Australia tenements will be evaluated as part of the Mount Dore study.

Starra Line Project

During 2008, the Starra Line mines were reassessed using a lower, more geologically-based cut-off and using
holes drilled in early 2003 which had not been included in previous reports.

Exco Resources Shareholding and Joint Venture Agreement

Ivanhoe Australia has a 19.9% interest in Exco Resources and a joint-venture agreement on various Exco
tenements. Exco is an Australian mineral exploration company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. Exco holds
extensive exploration tenements in the Cloncurry copper, uranium and gold region in northwest Queensland and the
White Dam gold project in South Australia. Ivanhoe Australia’s involvement with Exco significantly expands
Ivanhoe Mines’ exploration presence in the highly prospective Cloncurry region in the Mt. Isa District.

KAZAKHSTAN

Bakyrchik Gold Mine forms part of new gold company with Ivanhoe partners

On October 3, 2008, Ivanhoe Mines, which held a 70% interest in the Bakyrchik Gold Project in northeastern
Kazakhstan, closed an agreement with several Kazakh strategic partners to consolidate 100% ownership of the
project, and other gold-mining assets in Kazakhstan, in a new company: Altynalmas Gold. Altynalmas Gold
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initially will focus on the development of its highly prospective Kyzyl Shear assets. Ivanhoe Mines now owns 49%
of Altynalmas Gold and commenced accounting for its investment using the equity method in Q4’08.

Pilot Roaster plant commissioned

Construction of a 100,000 tonnes per annum pilot roaster plant at the Bakrychik Gold Project was completed at
the end of Q3’08 and commissioning began in Q4’08. Capital costs incurred on this project to December 31, 2008
were approximately $32 million. Additional changes in the ore-preparation area are planned in Q2’09 to improve
the process flow to ensure the plant achieves the designed production capacity.

CHINA

Gain of $201.4 million from sale of Ivanhoe Mines’ stake in Jinshan

In May 2008, Ivanhoe Mines sold to China National Gold Group Corporation of Beijing, and its financial
partners, its entire holding of 67,520,060 common shares of Jinshan, at a price of C$3.11 a share, and the Jinshan
promissory note of C$7.5 million. Proceeds received totalled $216.7 million (C$217.7 million). Ivanhoe Mines
recorded a $201.4 million gain on the sale of its interest in Jinshan in Q2’08.

Exploration continues in Northern China, focusing on high-quality projects for acquisition

Reconnaissance field exploration resumed in late March-early April 2008, focusing initially on central Inner
Mongolia and then extended into Hebei and surrounding provinces. By the end of 2008, the program covered an
area of 20,000 square kilometres of a 50,000-square-kilometre area that has been part of a major data re-evaluation
and target generation program, involving detailed data reviews, field traverses and systematic rock-chip and
channel sampling of all known occurrences and deposits of interest to Ivanhoe Mines. Numerous gold, gold-silver,
base metal, copper and nickel-chromium-PGM targets were assessed.

Further reconnaissance exploration and completion of the work initiated in 2008 is a priority for the first and
second quarters of 2009. This goal is to identify further high-quality, semi-advanced and grass-roots projects for
acquisition through licence-bidding applications over unlicenced targets and joint-venture formation with, or direct
purchase from, the existing licence holders.

OTHER

Ivanhoe Mines appoints Livia Mahler as an independent director

In March 2009, the Ivanhoe Mines board appointed Livia Mahler as a director. Ms Mahler is a venture
capitalist and is widely recognized for her strategic insights into the Canadian venture industry. In 1996, Ms Mahler
identified a critical lack of funding available to early, or seed stage technology companies in Canada. Ms Mahler
championed the creation of three funds across Canada targeted specifically at early stages. As a founder and General
Partner of the Vancouver based Western Technology Seed Investment Fund (WTSIF), she was instrumental in the
initial funding of over 25 technology companies across BC, Alberta and Saskatchewan. In addition to her duties
with WTSIF, Ms Mahler held investment responsibilities as Senior Investment Manager with the Business
Development Bank of Canada’s Venture Capital Group.

B. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In February 2005, the Company sold its Savage River mining operations in Tasmania, Australia, for two initial
cash payments totalling $21.5 million, plus a series of five contingent, annual payments that commenced on
March 31, 2006.
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Ivanhoe Mines received the first contingent annual payment of $28.2 million in 2006. The second contingent
annual payment of $20.3 million was received in 2007.

During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines received an amount of $29.2 million in relation to the third annual contingent
payment.

To date, Ivanhoe Mines has received $99.2 million in proceeds from the sale of Savage River.

At December 31, 2008, Ivanhoe Mines had accrued a $28.0 million receivable in relation to the fourth
contingent annual payment due on March 31, 2009. This amount is calculated based upon the actual tonnes of iron
ore sold during the nine-month period that ended December 31, 2008, under the escalating price formula in the sales
agreement.

C. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER

General and administrative costs. Administrative costs in 2008 of $27.5 million were consistent with 2007
($27.1 million).

Interest income. Interest income of $13.2 million was consistent with 2007 ($12.9 million).

Interest expense. The $17.6 million in interest expense for 2008 consists mainly of $17.1 million of accrued
interest on the convertible credit facility with Rio Tinto. This amount increased from 2007 ($2.5 million) mainly due
to the loan being fully drawn down in 2008.

Foreign exchange loss. The $62.9 million foreign exchange loss during 2008 was mainly attributable to the
weakening of the Canadian and Australian dollars against the U.S. dollar during 2008. The majority of this foreign
exchange loss ($57.8 million) was unrealized at December 31, 2008.

Share of loss on significantly influenced investees. The $10.1 million share of loss on significant influenced
investees represents Ivanhoe Mines’ share of Jinshan’s, Exco’s and Altynalmas’ net loss.

Writedown of long-term investments. The $7.1 million writedown of long-term investments relates to other-
than-temporary impairment losses recorded on Ivanhoe Mines’ investments in Redox Diamonds, Exco, Intec and
Jinshan.

Writedown of other long-term investments. The $18.0 million writedown of other long-term investments in
2008 represents the December 31, 2008 impairment of the Company’s asset backed commercial paper (ABCP)
holdings.

Gain on sale of long-term investment and note receivable. The $201.4 million gain on sale of long-term
investment and note receivable represents Ivanhoe Mines gain on the sale of its interest in Jinshan. Ivanhoe Mines
sold its investment in Jinshan for $216.7 million in Q2’08.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY DATA

Dec-31
2008

Sep-30
2008

Jun-30
2008

Mar-31
2008

Dec-31
2008

Quarter Ended Year Ended

($ in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share information)

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.1 $ — $ — $ — $ 3.1
Exploration expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (76.0) (59.7) (67.3) (57.3) (260.3)
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8.1) (5.1) (7.5) (6.8) (27.5)
Foreign exchange (losses) gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (40.6) (20.0) (1.0) (1.3) (62.9)
Writedown of other long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . (18.0) — — — (18.0)
Gain on sale of long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 201.4 — 201.4
Net (loss) income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . (168.1) (98.7) 118.3 (69.6) (218.1)
Income from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.1 10.7 9.2 6.0 34.0
Net (loss) income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (160.0) (88.0) 127.5 (63.6) (184.1)
Net (loss) income per share — basic

Continuing operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.45) $(0.26) $ 0.32 $(0.19) $ (0.58)
Discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.09
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.43) $(0.23) $ 0.34 $(0.17) $ (0.49)

Net (loss) income per share — diluted
Continuing operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.45) $(0.26) $ 0.29 $(0.19) $ (0.58)
Discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.09
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.43) $(0.23) $ 0.31 $(0.17) $ (0.49)

Dec-31
2007

Sep-30
2007

Jun-30
2007

Mar-31
2007

Dec-31
2007

Quarter Ended Year Ended

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Exploration expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (96.6) (74.8) (79.1) (53.5) (304.0)
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9.0) (7.0) (5.9) (5.2) (27.1)
Foreign exchange gains (losses) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.3 2.1 6.7 0.8 11.9
Writedown of other long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . (24.5) — — — (24.5)
Gain on sale of long-term investments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 1.0 1.0
Net (loss) income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . (265.5) (90.0) (78.7) (55.4) (489.6)
Income from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11.9 6.8 4.6 8.6 31.9
Net (loss) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (253.6) (83.1) (74.2) (46.8) (457.7)
Net (loss) income per share — basic

Continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.71) $(0.24) $(0.21) $(0.15) $ (1.31)
Discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.04 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 $ 0.02 $ 0.09
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.67) $(0.22) $(0.20) $(0.13) $ (1.22)

Net (loss) income per share — diluted
Continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.71) $(0.24) $(0.21) $(0.15) $ (1.31)
Discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.04 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 $ 0.02 $ 0.09
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.67) $(0.22) $(0.20) $(0.13) $ (1.22)
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FOURTH QUARTER

Revenue. In Q4’08, SouthGobi commenced selling coal from its Ovoot Tolgoi coal mine. SouthGobi shipped
approximately 113,000 tonnes of coal at an average realized selling price of approximately $29 per tonne.

Exploration. In Q4’08, Ivanhoe Mines expensed $76.0 million in exploration and development activities,
compared to $96.6 million in Q4’07. The majority of the $76.0 million was spent on the Mongolian properties
($71.7 million in Q4’08, compared to $85.7 million in Q4’07). Approximately $50.8 million was spent on the Oyu
Tolgoi Project and $23.2 million was spent on SouthGobi’s Mongolian coal projects.

Administrative costs. Administrative costs in Q4’08 were consistent with Q4’07.

Foreign exchange loss. The $40.6 million foreign exchange loss during Q4’08 was attributable to the
significant weakening of the Canadian and Australian dollar against the U.S. dollar. The majority of this foreign
exchange loss ($37.8 million) was unrealized at December 31, 2008.

Writedown of other long-term investments. The $18.0 million write-down of other long-term investments in
Q4’08 represents the additional impairment recorded on the Company’s ABCP holdings.

Net income from discontinued operations. Income from the Savage River mine operations totalled $8.1 mil-
lion in Q4’08, compared to $11.9 million in Q4’07. The decrease of $3.8 million was due to 496,000 tonnes sold in
Q4’08 versus 912,000 tonnes sold in Q4’07, slightly offset by an increase in the pellet premium being achieved in
2008.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flow

Operating activities. The $318.7 million of cash used in operating activities from continuing operations in
2008 primarily was the result of $239.7 million in cash exploration expenditures and a $53.9 million change in non-
operating working capital.

Investing activities. The $180.1 million of cash provided by investing activities in 2008 consisted of
$216.7 million received from the sale of the investment in Jinshan, $121.5 million received from Rio Tinto for the
sale of certain equipment and $29.2 million from the discontinued operations. These receipts from investing
activities were offset by $143.9 million in property, plant and equipment purchases mainly relating to Oyu Tolgoi
and Ovoot Tolgoi and $39.5 million mainly incurred purchasing additional shares in Ivanhoe Australia, SouthGobi,
Jinshan and Exco Resources.

Financing activities. Financing activities of $444.4 million in 2008 mainly consisted of $200.0 million
received from additional draw downs on the Rio Tinto credit facility and $246.3 million in proceeds raised by
subsidiaries. Ivanhoe Australia raised $105.8 million in August 2008 on its initial public offering on the ASX and
SouthGobi raised $140.5 million by private placements in early 2008.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Recent developments in capital markets have restricted access to debt and equity financing for many
companies. As a result, the Company is reviewing its 2009 capital spending requirements and will be adjusting
those spending requirements in light of the Investment Agreement negotiations. The Company also is assessing its
options for financing future capital expenditures in light of prevailing conditions in international credit markets.

At December 31, 2008, consolidated working capital was $402.0 million, including cash and cash equivalents
of $384.1 million, compared with working capital of $65.7 million and cash of $145.7 million at December 31,
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2007. Included in the December 31, 2008, cash and cash equivalents balance of $384.1 million was $10.3 million of
SouthGobi’s cash and cash equivalents and $40.5 million of Ivanhoe Australia’s cash and cash equivalents, which
were not available for Ivanhoe Mines’ use. Based on Ivanhoe Mines’ financial position at December 31, 2008,
Ivanhoe Mines believes that its existing funds should be sufficient to fund its minimum obligations, including
general corporate activities, for at least the next 12 months.

Should Ivanhoe Mines be unable to negotiate an Investment Agreement that is acceptable to Rio Tinto, with the
result that Rio Tinto elects not to proceed with the second tranche private placement, Ivanhoe Mines may delay,
postpone or curtail certain of its planned activities for 2009 and thereafter. Ivanhoe Mines will continue to assess the
need for project financing relating to the development of power and other infrastructure-related activities in
association with the Oyu Tolgoi Project. See “Outlook” for further details.

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper

At December 31, 2008, the Company held non-bank-sponsored ABCP issued by a number of trusts with an
original value of $60.2 million. This ABCP was rated by DBRS as R-1 (high) at the date of investment and met the
criteria of the Company’s investment policy. An R-1 (high) rating by DBRS is the highest rating for commercial
paper. These investments matured during Q3’07 but, as a result of liquidity issues in the ABCP market, did not settle
on maturity.

On August 16, 2007, it was announced that a group representing banks, asset providers and major investors had
agreed to a standstill with regard to all non-bank sponsored ABCP (the Montreal Proposal). Under the proposal, the
affected ABCP was to be converted into term floating-rate notes maturing no earlier than the scheduled termination
dates of the underlying assets. The Montreal Proposal called for investors to continue to roll their ABCP during the
standstill period. The Company was not a signatory to this agreement.

On September 6, 2007, a pan-Canadian restructuring committee (the Committee) consisting of major investors
was formed to propose a solution to the liquidity problem affecting the ABCP market. On March 17, 2008, the
Committee filed an application in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the Court) under the Companies’ Creditors
Arrangement Act asking the Court to call a meeting of the ABCP noteholders. On March 20, 2008, the Committee
made available additional documents outlining the details of the proposed restructuring plan. On April 25, 2008, the
plan was approved by the noteholders and was sanctioned by the Court in June 5, 2008 (the Sanction Order). On
June 25 and 26, 2008, the Court of Appeal for Ontario heard motions from a group of Montreal Proposal ABCP
holders seeking leave to appeal, and an appeal of, the Sanction Order (the Appeal). The Appeal was heard and a
denial decision was rendered on August 18, 2008. Some of these noteholders (including Ivanhoe Mines) sought
leave to appeal that decision to the Supreme Court of Canada (the SCC). On September 19, 2008, the SCC
announced that it would not grant leave to hear the appeal. On December 24, 2008, an agreement was reached with
all key stakeholders to amend the terms of the Committee Restructuring Plan (the Amended Plan).

On January 12, 2009, the Court granted the Amended Plan Implementation Order. On January 21, 2009, the
Amended Plan restructuring was completed. Upon closing of the Amended Plan, the Company received:

• $22.7 million of MAV2 Class A-1 Notes;

• $22.7 million of MAV2 Class A-2 Notes;

• $4.1 million of MAV2 Class B Notes;

• $1.5 million of MAV2 Class C Notes;

• $1.3 million of MAV2 IA Class 1 Notes;

• $1.0 million of MAV2 IA Class 2 Notes;
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• $0.9 million of MAV2 IA Class 3 Notes;

• $1.2 million of MAV2 IA Class 13 Notes;

• $1.6 million of MAV3 TA Class 14 Notes; and

• $3.2 million of MAV3 TA Class 25 Notes.

There is a significant amount of judgment required in estimating the amount and timing of cash flows
associated with the new long-term notes. The Company has estimated the fair value of the notes considering
information provided on the restructuring, the best available public information regarding market conditions and
other factors that a market participant would consider for such investments.

The Company has used a discounted cash flow approach to value the long-term notes incorporating the
following assumptions:

Accrued Interest from August 2007: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2.7 million

Bankers Acceptance Rate: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.5%

Discount Rates: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9% to 25%

Maturity Dates: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.92 years

Expected Return of Principal:

A-1 Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100%

A-2 Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100%

B Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10%

C Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0%

IA Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0%

TA Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100%

Based on the discounted cash flow model as at December 31, 2008, the fair value of the Company’s long-term
notes was estimated at $22.3 million. As a result of this valuation, the Company recorded a write-down of
$18.0 million in Q4’08 in addition to the $24.5 million recorded in 2007.

Continuing uncertainties regarding the value of the assets that underlie the notes, the amount and timing of
cash flows and changes in general economic conditions could give rise to a further change in the fair value of the
Company’s investment in the notes, which would impact the Company’s results from operations. A 1.0% increase,
representing 100 basis points, in the discount rate will decrease the fair value of the long-term notes by
approximately $1.5 million.

Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other current
assets, long-term investments, other long-term investments, note receivable from related party, accounts payable,
amounts due under credit facilities, loans payable to related parties and its derivative contract.

The fair value of Ivanhoe Mines’ long-term investments was determined by reference to published market
quotations, which may not be reflective of future values.

The fair value of Ivanhoe Mines’ other long-term investments, consisting of the ABCP, was determined by
considering the best available data regarding market conditions for such investments, which may not be reflective of
future values.
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The fair values of Ivanhoe Mines’ remaining financial instruments were estimated to approximate their
carrying values, due primarily to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

Ivanhoe Mines is exposed to credit risk with respect to its accounts receivable. The significant concentrations
of credit risk are situated in Mongolia and Australia. Ivanhoe Mines does not mitigate the balance of this risk in light
of the credit worthiness of its major debtors.

Ivanhoe Mines is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to the variable rates of interest incurred on the
convertible credit facility and amounts due under credit facilities. Interest rate risk is concentrated in Canada.
Ivanhoe Mines does not mitigate the balance of this risk.

SHARE CAPITAL

At March 31, 2009, the Company had a total of:

• 378.1 million common shares outstanding.

• 14.0 million incentive stock options outstanding, with a weighted average exercise price of C$7.88 per share.
Each option is exercisable to purchase a common share of the Company at prices ranging from C$2.82 to
C$16.79 per share.

• 92.1 million share purchase warrants outstanding granted to Rio Tinto, with exercise prices ranging between
US$8.38 and US$9.02 per share (Series A and B warrants). These warrants are exercisable until two years
after the earlier of completion of the Investment Agreement and October 27, 2009.

• 35.0 million Series C share purchase warrants outstanding granted to Rio Tinto as part of the $350.0 million
credit facility agreement, with an exercise price of US$10.00 per share. These warrants are exercisable until
October 24, 2012.

• 1.4 million share purchase warrants with an exercise price of C$3.15 per share. These warrants were granted
to Rio Tinto under certain anti-dilution provisions in the 2006 Private Placement Agreement (Anti-Dilution
warrants). These warrants are divided into two series and have lives identical to the Series A warrants and B
warrants.

OUTLOOK

The information below is in addition to the disclosure concerning specific operations included in the Review of
Operations section of this MD&A.

General Economic Conditions

Current problems in credit markets and deteriorating global economic conditions have lead to a significant
weakening of exchange traded commodity prices in recent months, including precious and base metal prices.
Volatility in these markets has also been unusually high. It is difficult in these conditions to forecast metal prices and
demand trends for products that we expect to produce from our operations. Credit market conditions have also
increased the cost of obtaining capital and limited the availability of funds. Accordingly, management is reviewing
the effects of the current conditions on our business.

Exchange rates

The Company holds a portion of its cash resources in currencies other than the US$. The Company expects to
incur future expenditures in currencies other than the US$, most notably Canadian and Australian dollar expen-
ditures. As a result, exchange gains and losses from holding Canadian and Australian dollars are primarily
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unrealized and are expected to continue to fluctuate significantly given the recent volatility in foreign exchange
rates.

Capital Expenditures

We continue to review our capital spending in light of current market conditions and our expectation of
achieving an acceptable Investment Agreement in 2009 for the Oyu Tolgoi Project. As a result of our review, the
Company may curtail a portion of its capital and operating expenditures in 2009.

The Company continues to focus major efforts on finalizing an acceptable Investment Agreement with the
Government of Mongolia. Ivanhoe Mines has continued to advance mine planning, engineering and reconstruction
work and will prepare an update to the 2005 Integrated Development Plan (IDP05) once an acceptable Investment
Agreement has been negotiated with the Government of Mongolia.

An agreement was executed with Rio Tinto in 2008 that provided for the purchase by Rio Tinto of certain
project equipment already purchased by Ivanhoe Mines and the funding of future equipment purchases while
Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto continue to engage the Government of Mongolia in discussions toward an acceptable
Investment Agreement. In aggregate, Ivanhoe Mines received in 2008 approximately $121.5 million from the sale
of the equipment to Rio Tinto. In addition, Rio Tinto can require Ivanhoe Mines to repurchase the equipment that
has been sold to Rio Tinto — and any other equipment purchased by Rio Tinto as part of this agreement — once an
acceptable Investment Agreement is reached with the Government of Mongolia. Ivanhoe Mines also has a right of
first refusal to repurchase the equipment if Rio Tinto deems it appropriate to use the equipment elsewhere.

Should Ivanhoe Mines be unable to, or decide not to, reacquire long-lead-time equipment that has been
purchased or committed to, the draft updated IDP will need to be modified to reflect the corresponding changes to
the mine plan and the impact on the Oyu Tolgoi Project economics.

Other information

The Company is actively involved in advancing several other projects. These activities are expected to
continue through 2009, with a focus on subsidiary SouthGobi and its mining of coal; subsidiary Ivanhoe Australia
and its development activities on its Cloncurry tenements; and Altynalmas, which has completed construction of its
pilot roaster plant. At the present time, SouthGobi (with the $30.0 million credit facility from Ivanhoe Mines) and
Ivanhoe Australia have sufficient funds to advance their operations and development plans for 2009. Altynalmas
Gold is reviewing its operating plans to determine the amount of funding that it will require from its shareholders, of
which Ivanhoe Mines owns 49%.

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2008, Ivanhoe Mines was not a party to any off-balance-sheet
arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations,
financial condition, revenues or expenses, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources of the Company.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Less than 1
Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 5 Years

After
5 Years Total

Payments Due by Period

($000’s of U.S. dollars)

Operating leases(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,488 $ 3,811 $3,010 $ — $ 9,309

Purchase obligations(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,550 — — — 37,550

Debt obligations(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,963 374,165 — — 390,128

Other long-term obligations(3). . . . . . . 2,229 — — 17,891 20,120

Total. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $58,230 $377,976 $3,010 $17,891 $457,107

(1) These amounts mainly represent various long-term contracts that include commitments for future operating
payments under contracts for drilling, engineering, equipment purchases, rentals and other arrangements.

(2) Debt obligations consist of amounts due under credit facilities and long-term convertible credit facility.

(3) Other long-term obligations consist of asset retirement obligations.

The equipment-sale agreement entered into by Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto in August 2008 provided for the
purchase by Rio Tinto of $121.5 million of certain project equipment already purchased by Ivanhoe Mines and the
funding of future equipment purchases while Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto continue to engage the Government of
Mongolia in discussions toward an acceptable Investment Agreement. In addition, under this agreement Rio Tinto
can require Ivanhoe Mines to repurchase the equipment that has been sold to Rio Tinto — and any other equipment
purchased by Rio Tinto as part of this agreement — once an acceptable Investment Agreement is reached with the
Government of Mongolia.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (FAS 157). In
February 2008, the FASB issued a staff position that delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for all non-financial
assets and liabilities except for those recognized or disclosed at least annually. Therefore, the Company has adopted
the provision of FAS 157 with respect to its financial assets and liabilities only. FAS 157 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value
is defined under FAS 157 as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an
exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants on the measurement date.

In October 2008, the FASB staff issued FSP SFAS No. 157-3, “Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset
When the Market for that Asset is Not Active” (“FSP FAS 157-3”), which clarifies the application of FAS 157 in an
inactive market. The intent of this FSP is to provide guidance on how the fair value of a financial asset is to be
determined when the market for that financial asset is inactive. FSP FAS 157-3 states that determining fair value in
an inactive market depends on the facts and circumstances, requires the use of significant judgement and in some
cases, observable inputs may require significant adjustment based on unobservable data. Regardless of the valuation
technique used, an entity must include appropriate risk adjustments that market participants would make for non-
performance and liquidity risks when determining the fair value of an asset in an inactive market. FSP FAS 157-3
was effective upon issuance. The Company has incorporated the principles of FSP FAS 157-3 in determining the
fair value of financial assets when the market for those assets is not active.

Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under FAS 157 must maximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The standard describes a fair-value hierarchy based on three levels of
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inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair
value. The adoption of this statement did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
condition or results of operations.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted FAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities” (FAS 159) which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and
certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. The Company did not
elect to apply the fair value option under this Statement to any instruments.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States requires the Company to establish accounting policies and to make estimates that affect both the
amount and timing of the recording of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Some of these estimates require
judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain.

A detailed summary of all of the Company’s significant accounting policies and the estimates derived
therefrom is included in Note 2 to the annual Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31,
2008. While all of the significant accounting policies are important to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, the following accounting policies and the estimates derived therefrom have been identified as being
critical:

• Carrying Values of Property, Plant and Equipment;

• Depletion and Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment;

• Asset Retirement Obligations; and

• Income Taxes.

Carrying values of Property, Plant and Equipment

Ivanhoe Mines reviews the carrying values of its property, plant and equipment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. An impairment is considered to exist if
total estimated future cash flows, or probability-weighted cash flows on an undiscounted basis, are less than the
carrying value of the assets. An impairment loss is measured and recorded based on discounted estimated future
cash flows associated with values beyond proven and probable reserves and resources. In estimating future cash
flows, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there is identifiable future cash flows that are largely
independent of cash flows from other asset groups. Generally, in estimating future cash flows, all assets are grouped
at a particular mine for which there is identifiable cash flows.

The estimates used by management are subject to various risks and uncertainties. It is reasonably possible that
changes in estimates could occur which may affect the expected recoverability of the Company’s investments in
property, plant and equipment.

Depletion and Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise one of the largest components of Ivanhoe Mines’ assets and, as such,
the amortization of these assets has a significant effect on the Company’s financial statements.

On the commencement of commercial production, depletion of each mining property is provided on the unit-
of-production basis using estimated proven and probable reserves as the depletion basis. The mining plant and
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equipment and other capital assets are depreciated, following the commencement of commercial production, over
their expected economic lives using either the unit-of-production method or the straight-line method.

Capital projects in progress are not depreciated until the capital asset has been put into operation.

The proven and probable reserves are determined based on a professional evaluation using accepted inter-
national standards for the assessment of mineral reserves. The assessment involves the study of geological,
geophysical and economic data and the reliance on a number of assumptions. The estimates of the reserves may
change, based on additional knowledge gained subsequent to the initial assessment. This may include additional
data available from continuing exploration, results from the reconciliation of actual mining production data against
the original reserve estimates, or the impact of economic factors such as changes in the price of commodities or the
cost of components of production. A change in the original estimate of reserves would result in a change in the rate
of depletion and depreciation of the related mining assets, or could result in impairment, resulting in a write-down of
the assets.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company has obligations for site restoration and decommissioning related to its mining properties. The
Company, using mine closure plans or other similar studies that outline the requirements planned to be carried out,
estimates the future obligations for mine closure activities. Because the obligations are dependent on the laws and
regulations of the countries in which the mines operate, the requirements could change — resulting from
amendments in those laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and other legislation affecting
resource companies.

Ivanhoe Mines recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual or legal obligations associated with the
retirement of property, plant and equipment, when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction,
development or normal operation of the assets. Initially, a liability for an asset retirement obligation is recognized at
its fair value in the period in which it is incurred. Upon initial recognition of the liability, the corresponding asset
retirement cost is added to the carrying amount of that asset and the cost is amortized as an expense over the
economic life of the related asset. Following the initial recognition of the asset retirement obligation, the carrying
amount of the liability is increased for the passage of time and adjusted for changes to the amount or timing of the
underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.

Because the estimate of obligations is based on future expectations in the determination of closure provisions,
management makes a number of assumptions and judgments. The closure provisions are more uncertain the further
into the future the mine closure activities are to be carried out. Actual costs incurred in future periods in relation to
the remediation of Company’s existing assets could differ materially from the $20.1 million undiscounted future
value of Ivanhoe Mines’ estimated asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2008.

Income Taxes

The Company must make significant estimates in respect of the provision for income taxes and the
composition of its deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities. Ivanhoe Mines’ operations
are, in part, subject to foreign tax laws where interpretations, regulations and legislation are complex and
continually changing. As a result, there are usually some tax matters in question which may, on resolution in
the future, result in adjustments to the amount of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities, and
those adjustments may be material to the Ivanhoe Mines’ financial position and results of operations.

The Company computes the provision for deferred income taxes under the liability method. Deferred taxes
arise from the recognition of the tax consequences of temporary differences by applying statutory tax rates
applicable to future years to differences between the financial statement’s carrying amounts and the tax bases of
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certain assets and liabilities. The Company records a valuation allowance against any portion of those deferred
income tax assets that management believes will, more likely than not, fail to be realized.

The determination of the ability of the Company to utilize tax loss carry-forwards to offset deferred income
taxes payable requires management to exercise judgment and make assumptions about the future performance of
the Company. Management is required to assess whether the Company is “more likely than not” to be able to benefit
from these tax losses. Changes in economic conditions, metal prices and other factors could result in revisions to the
estimates of the benefits to be realized or the timing of utilizing the losses.

During 2008, the Company reviewed its Canadian operating and capital tax losses. These losses historically
have not been recognized on the balance sheet as the Company has not expected to realize them in the near future.
The sale of the Company’s interest in Jinshan in Q2’08 will result in the Company utilizing some of these tax losses.
The tax review confirmed that there are adequate tax losses to shelter the gain from the Jinshan sale.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently issued United States accounting pronouncements have been outlined below.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised 2007),
“Business Combinations” (SFAS 141(R)). SFAS 141(R) changes accounting for acquisitions that close beginning
in 2009. More transactions and events will qualify as business combinations and will be accounted for at fair value
under the new standard. SFAS 141(R) promotes greater use of fair values in financial reporting. Some of the changes
will introduce more volatility into earnings. SFAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
December 15, 2008. The Company is currently assessing the impact that SFAS 141(R) may have on its financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51” (SFAS 160). SFAS 160 estab-
lishes accounting and reporting standards pertaining to (i) the nature and classification of the noncontrolling interest
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, (ii) attributing net income and comprehensive income to the
parent and the noncontrolling interest, (iii) changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary, and (iv) the
deconsolidation of subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.
SFAS 160 requires retroactive adoption of the presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority
interests. SFAS 160 requires the classification of the noncontrolling interest as a separate component of stock-
holders’ equity. The Company is currently assessing the impact that SFAS 160 may have on its financial position,
results of operations, and cash flows.

In November 2008, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on Issue No. 08-6, “Equity
Method Investment Accounting Considerations” (EITF 08-6), which clarifies the accounting for certain transac-
tions and impairment considerations involving equity method investments. EITF 08-6 provides guidance on a
number of factors, including, determination of the initial carrying value of an equity method investment, performing
an impairment assessment of an underlying indefinite-lived intangible asset of an equity method investment,
accounting for an equity method investee’s issuance of shares, and accounting for a change in an investment from
the equity method to the cost method. EITF 08-6 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15,
2008. The Company is currently assessing the impact EITF 08-6 may have on its financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. APB 14-1, “Accounting for Convertible Debt
Instruments That May be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)” (FSP APB 14-1).
FSP APB 14-1 applies to convertible debt instruments that, by their stated terms, may be settled in cash (or other
assets) upon conversion, including partial cash settlement, unless embedded conversion option is required to be
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separately accounted for as a derivative under FAS 133. Convertible debt instruments within the scope of FSPAPB
14-1 are not addressed by the existing APB 14-1. FSPAPB 14-1 requires that the liability and equity components of
convertible debt instruments within the scope of FSP APB 14-1 be separately accounting for in a manner that
reflects the entity’s nonconvertible borrowing rate. This requires an allocation of the convertible debt proceeds
between the liability component and the embedded conversion option (i.e., the equity component). The difference
between the principal amount of the debt and the amount of the proceeds allocated to the liability component will be
reported as a debt discount and subsequently amortized to earnings over the instrument’s expected life using the
effective interest method. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and
will be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. The Company is currently assessing the impact of FSPAPB
14-1 may have on its financial position, result of operations and cash flows.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Ivanhoe Mines has been monitoring the deliberations and progress being made by accounting standard setting
bodies and securities regulators both in Canada and the United States with respect to their plans regarding
convergence to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Ivanhoe Mines is a ‘domestic’ issuer under
Canadian securities law and a ‘foreign private issuer’ under US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
regulations. Ivanhoe Mines files its financial statements with both Canadian and US securities regulators in
accordance with US GAAP, as permitted under current regulations. The Accounting Standards Board in Canada and
the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) have recently confirmed that domestic issuers will be required to
transition to IFRS for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The CSA Staff issued Staff Notice 52-321
“Early adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, Use of US GAAP and References to IFRS-IASB”
on June 27, 2008 which confirmed that domestic issuers that are also SEC registrants are able to continue to use US
GAAP. Consequently, Ivanhoe Mines is not required to convert to IFRS effective January 1, 2011. On August 27,
2008, the SEC issued a proposal which would require SEC registrants to issue their financial statement under IFRS
beginning in 2014, 2015 or 2016 depending on the size of the issuer. Ivanhoe Mines is currently assessing the costs/
benefits of its two options being (1) a potential conversion consistent with other Canadian issuers; or (2) a potential
conversion consistent with other SEC registrants.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Material risks and uncertainties affecting Ivanhoe Mines, their potential impact, and the Company’s principal
risk management strategies, are as follows:

Ivanhoe Mines may be unsuccessful in completing an Investment Agreement with the Government of
Mongolia.

Although there is no legal requirement that Ivanhoe Mines obtain an Investment Agreement from the
Mongolian Government before commencing development and mining operations at the Oyu Tolgoi Project,
Ivanhoe Mines believes that entering into a mutually satisfactory Investment Agreement with the Mongolian
Government is of fundamental importance to the viability of the Oyu Tolgoi Project. An acceptable Investment
Agreement is a prerequisite to Rio Tinto’s obligations to make an additional equity investment in Ivanhoe Mines.
Although Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto recently completed a mutually acceptable draft Investment Agreement with
a working group appointed by the Mongolian Government which was reviewed and approved in principle by the
Cabinet and the National Security Council, the draft Investment Agreement remains subject to review and approval
by the Mongolian Parliament before it can become effective. There is no assurance that any approval will be
forthcoming in the short term or at all as political developments and unanticipated actions within Parliament may
impact the scope and terms of the draft Investment Agreement. Moreover, some risk exists that additional changes
to the Minerals Law may be considered necessary by Parliament before it returns to its review of the draft
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agreement. If the Government seeks to impose terms and conditions that would have a significantly adverse impact
on the economic viability of the Oyu Tolgoi Project or if it fails to act upon approving the Investment Agreement in a
timely manner, it could effectively prevent Ivanhoe Mines from successfully concluding an Investment Agreement
that is necessary for development of the Oyu Tolgoi deposit. Failure to obtain an Investment Agreement on mutually
acceptable terms approved by the Mongolian Parliament is likely to have a significant adverse effect on the
development of the Oyu Tolgoi Project and Ivanhoe Mines itself.

Ivanhoe Mines’ ability to carry on business in Mongolia is subject to political risk.

Ivanhoe Mines holds its interest in each of its Mongolian mineral exploration and development projects
indirectly through mining licences and exploration licences that enable it to conduct operations or development and
exploration activities. However, Ivanhoe Mines’ ability to conduct exploration and development activities may be
subject to changes in legislation or government regulations or changes in political attitudes within Mongolia.

Government policy may change to discourage foreign investment, mining projects may be nationalized or
other government limitations, restrictions or requirements not currently foreseen may be implemented. There can be
no assurance that Ivanhoe Mines’ assets will not be subject to nationalization, requisition or confiscation, whether
legitimate or not, by any authority or body.

There is no assurance that provisions under Mongolian law for compensation and reimbursement of losses to
investors under such circumstances would be effective to restore the full value of Ivanhoe Mines’ original
investment or to compensate for the loss of the current value of the Mongolian projects. Similarly, Ivanhoe Mines’
operations may be affected in varying degrees by, among other things, government regulations with respect to
restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, income taxes, environmental legislation, mine safety and
annual fees to maintain mineral licences in good standing. There can be no assurance that Mongolian laws
protecting foreign investments will not be amended or abolished or that existing laws will be enforced or interpreted
to provide adequate protection against any or all of the risks described above.

There can be no assurance that Ivanhoe Mines will be capable of raising the additional funding that it
needs to carry out its development and exploration objectives.

Carrying out the development and exploration of the Oyu Tolgoi Project and the various other mineral
properties in which Ivanhoe Mines holds interests depends upon Ivanhoe Mines’ ability to obtain financing through
capital markets, sales of non-core assets or other means. Ivanhoe Mines expects to be able to meet short-term cash
requirements for development of the Oyu Tolgoi Project and Ivanhoe Mines’ other projects from its existing
financial resources, but these funds will not be sufficient to meet all anticipated development expenditure
requirements. The equity investment entitlements and obligations of Rio Tinto pursuant to the Rio Tinto Trans-
action may, if consummated in their entirety, account for a significant portion of the development cost of the Oyu
Tolgoi Project, but will be insufficient to fund the entire development cost and, in any case, there is no assurance that
Ivanhoe Mines will meet the conditions necessary to trigger Rio Tinto’s additional equity investment obligations or
that Rio Tinto will fully exercise its share purchase warrants and other rights to subscribe for additional Common
Shares. In particular, Rio Tinto’s obligation to complete the second tranche private placement is subject to Ivanhoe
Mines obtaining an Investment Agreement on terms acceptable to Rio Tinto. Until an Investment Agreement with
the Government of Mongolia is actually finalized, approved and executed, it is not possible to predict if Ivanhoe
Mines will be successful in negotiating and obtaining an Investment Agreement that is acceptable to Rio Tinto.
Even if Rio Tinto completes its second tranche private placement under the Rio Tinto Transaction, it is permitted
under the terms of the Rio Tinto Credit Agreement, to elect to apply the subscription proceeds from the second
tranche private placement to the repayment of the principal and interest outstanding under the Rio Tinto Credit
Agreement. Rio Tinto’s share purchase warrants are exercisable at the discretion of Rio Tinto, and Ivanhoe Mines
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has no ability to compel the exercise of those warrants. If the second tranche private placement is not completed (or
is completed, but the proceeds from it are applied to repay the amounts outstanding under the Rio Tinto Credit
Agreement) and/or Rio Tinto’s share purchase warrants are not exercised, Ivanhoe Mines may be unable to obtain
financing from other sources necessary for development of the Oyu Tolgoi Project, on favourable terms or at all.
Even if Rio Tinto completes the maximum equity investment contemplated by the Rio Tinto Transaction, Ivanhoe
Mines will need to obtain additional sources of capital to complete the development of the Oyu Tolgoi Project and to
advance the development of other mineral properties. Depressed markets for precious and base metals may make it
difficult or impossible for Ivanhoe Mines to obtain debt financing or equity financing. Ivanhoe Mines operates in a
region of the world that is prone to economic and political upheaval and instability, which may make it more
difficult for Ivanhoe Mines to obtain debt financing from project lenders. Failure to obtain additional financing on a
timely basis may cause Ivanhoe Mines to postpone its development plans, forfeit rights in some or all of its
properties or joint ventures or reduce or terminate some or all of its operations.

If Ivanhoe Mines is required to access credit markets to carry out its exploration and development objectives,
the recent market events and conditions, including disruptions in the Canadian, United States and international
credit markets and other financial systems and the deterioration of the Canadian, United States and global economic
conditions, could, among other things, impede access to capital or increase the cost of capital, which would have an
adverse effect on Ivanhoe Mines’ ability to fund its working capital and other capital requirements. In 2007 and into
2008, the U.S. credit markets began to experience serious disruption due to a deterioration in residential property
values, defaults and delinquencies in the residential mortgage market (particularly, sub-prime and non-prime
mortgages) and a decline in the credit quality of mortgage-backed securities. These conditions continued and
worsened in 2008 and early 2009, causing a loss of confidence in the broader U.S. and global credit and financial
markets and resulting in the collapse of, and government intervention in, major banks and other financial
institutions and insurers and creating a climate of greater volatility, less liquidity, widening of credit spreads, a
lack of price transparency, increased credit losses and tighter credit conditions. Notwithstanding various actions by
the U.S. and other governments, concerns about the general condition of the capital markets, financial instruments,
banks, investment banks, insurers and other financial institutions caused the broader credit markets to further
deteriorate and stock markets to decline substantially. In addition, general economic indicators, including
employment levels, announced corporate earnings, economic growth and consumer confidence have deteriorated.
These unprecedented disruptions in the current credit and financial markets have had a significant material adverse
impact on a number of financial institutions and have limited access to capital and credit for many companies,
particularly resource companies. These disruptions could, among other things, make it more difficult for Ivanhoe
Mines to obtain, or increase its cost of obtaining, capital and financing for its operations. Ivanhoe Mines’ access to
additional capital may not be available on terms acceptable to Ivanhoe Mines or at all.

Lack of infrastructure in proximity to Ivanhoe Mines’ material properties could adversely affect mining
feasibility.

The Oyu Tolgoi Project is located in an extremely remote area in the South Gobi Region of Mongolia, which
currently lacks basic infrastructure, including sources of electric power, water, housing, food and transport,
necessary to develop and operate a major mining project. While Ivanhoe Mines has established the limited
infrastructure necessary to conduct its current exploration and development activities, substantially greater sources
of power, water, physical plant and transportation infrastructure in the area will need to be established before
Ivanhoe Mines can conduct mining operations. Lack of availability of the means and inputs necessary to establish
such infrastructure may adversely affect mining feasibility. Establishing such infrastructure will, in any event,
require significant financing, identification of adequate sources of raw materials and supplies and necessary
approvals from national and regional governments, none of which can be assured. The Ovoot Tolgoi Project is
similarly located in a remote area of southern Mongolia.
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The resource and reserve estimates for Ivanhoe Mines’ projects disclosed in this MD&A are estimates
only and are subject to change based on a variety of factors, some of which are beyond Ivanhoe Mines’
control. Ivanhoe Mines’ actual production, revenues and capital expenditures may differ materially from
these estimates.

The estimates of reserves and resources disclosed in this MD&A, including the anticipated tonnages and
grades that will be achieved or the indicated level of recovery that will be realized, are estimates and no assurances
can be given as to their accuracy. Such estimates are, in large part, based on interpretations of geological data
obtained from drill holes and other sampling techniques. Actual mineralization or formations may be different from
those predicted. It may also take many years from the initial phase of drilling before production is possible, and
during that time the economic feasibility of exploiting a deposit may change. Reserve and resource estimates are
materially dependent on prevailing metal prices and the cost of recovering and processing minerals at the individual
mine sites. Market fluctuations in the price of metals or increases in the costs to recover metals from Ivanhoe Mines’
mining projects may render the mining of ore reserves uneconomical and materially adversely affect Ivanhoe
Mines’ operations. Moreover, various short-term operating factors may cause a mining operation to be unprofitable
in any particular accounting period.

Prolonged declines in the market price of metals may render reserves containing relatively lower grades of
mineralization uneconomic to exploit and could reduce materially Ivanhoe Mines’ reserves and resources. Should
such reductions occur, material write downs of Ivanhoe Mines’ investment in mining properties or the discon-
tinuation of development or production might be required, and there could be material delays in the development of
new projects, increased net losses and reduced cash flow. The estimates of mineral reserves and resources
attributable to a specific property are based on accepted engineering and evaluation principles. The estimated
amount of contained metals in proven and probable mineral reserves does not necessarily represent an estimate of a
fair market value of the evaluated properties.

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of mineral reserves and resources. The
estimates in this MD&A are based on various assumptions relating to commodity prices and exchange rates during
the expected life of production, mineralization of the area to be mined, the projected cost of mining, and the results
of additional planned development work. Actual future production rates and amounts, revenues, taxes, operating
expenses, environmental and regulatory compliance expenditures, development expenditures, and recovery rates
may vary substantially from those assumed in the estimates. Any significant change in these assumptions, including
changes that result from variances between projected and actual results, could result in material downward revision
to current estimates.

Mining projects are sensitive to the volatility of metal prices.

The long-term viability of the Oyu Tolgoi Project depends in large part on the world market prices of copper
and gold. The market prices for these metals are volatile and are affected by numerous factors beyond Ivanhoe
Mines’ control. These factors include international economic and political trends, expectations of inflation, global
and regional demand, currency exchange fluctuations, interest rates and global or regional consumption patterns,
speculative activities, increased production due to improved mining and production methods and economic events,
including the performance of Asia’s economies.

The aggregate effect of these factors on metals prices is impossible to predict. Should prevailing metal prices
remain depressed or below variable production costs of Ivanhoe Mines’ current and planned mining operations for
an extended period, losses may be sustained and, under certain circumstances, there may be a curtailment or
suspension of some or all of Ivanhoe Mines’ mining, development and exploration activities. Ivanhoe Mines would
also have to assess the economic impact of any sustained lower metal prices on recoverability and, therefore, the
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cut-off grade and level of Ivanhoe Mines’ reserves and resources. These factors could have an adverse impact on
Ivanhoe Mines’ future cash flows, earnings, results of operations, stated reserves and financial condition.

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated (1) the London Metals Exchange’s high, low and
average settlement prices for copper in U.S. dollars per pound and (2) the high, low and average London afternoon
fixing prices for gold.

Year High Low Average High Low Average
Copper Gold

2004. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1.49 $1.06 $1.30 $ 454 $375 $409

2005. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2.11 $1.39 $1.67 $ 536 $411 $444

2006. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3.99 $2.06 $3.05 $ 725 $524 $604

2007. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3.77 $2.37 $3.23 $ 841 $604 $695

2008. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4.08 $1.26 $3.15 $1,011 $713 $872

Ivanhoe Mines’ business in Mongolia may be subject to legal risk.

The legal framework in Mongolia is, in many instances, based on recent political reforms or newly enacted
legislation, which may not be consistent with long-standing local conventions and customs. As a result, there may
be ambiguities, inconsistencies and anomalies in the agreements, licences and title documents upon which Ivanhoe
Mines holds its interests in Mongolia, or the underlying legislation upon which those interests are based, which are
atypical of more developed legal systems and which may affect the interpretation and enforcement of Ivanhoe
Mines’ rights and obligations. Local institutions and bureaucracies responsible for administrating laws may lack a
proper understanding of the laws or the experience necessary to apply them in a modern business context. Many
laws have been enacted, but in many instances they are neither understood nor enforced and may be applied in an
inconsistent, arbitrary and unfair manner, while legal remedies may be uncertain, delayed or unavailable. For
decades Mongolians have looked to politicians and bureaucrats as the sources of the “law”. This has changed in
theory, but often not in practice. With respect to most day-to-day activities in Mongolia government civil servants
interpret, and often effectively make, the law. This situation is gradually changing but at a relatively slow pace.
Accordingly, while Ivanhoe Mines believes that it has taken the legal steps necessary to obtain and hold its property
and other interests in Mongolia, there can be no guarantee that such steps will be sufficient to preserve those
interests.

Recent and future amendments to Mongolian laws could adversely affect Ivanhoe Mines’ mining rights
in the Oyu Tolgoi Project or make it more difficult or expensive to develop the project and carry out
mining.

In 2006, Mongolia implemented revisions to the Minerals Law. These revisions continue to preserve the
substance of the original Minerals Law, which was drafted with the assistance of Western legal experts and was
widely regarded as progressive, internally consistent and effective legislation, but the revisions have also increased
the potential for political interference and weakened the rights of mineral holders in Mongolia. A number of the
provisions will require further clarification from the Government about the manner in which the Government
intends to interpret and apply the relevant law, which could have a significant effect on Ivanhoe Mines’ Mongolian
properties, including the Oyu Tolgoi Project in particular. In addition, members of Parliament in Mongolia have
recently stated that they may consider additional amendments to the Minerals Law.

The Mongolian government has, in the past, expressed its strong desire to foster, and has to date protected the
development of, an enabling environment for foreign investment. However, there are political constituencies within
Mongolia that have espoused ideas that would not be regarded by the international mining industry as conducive to
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foreign investment if they were to become law or official government policy. At present, Ivanhoe Mines has no
reason to believe that the government of Mongolia intends to sponsor or that Parliament intends to enact
amendments to the Minerals Law or other legislation that would be materially adverse to the interests of
international investors in Mongolia’s mining sector, including those of Ivanhoe Mines. Nevertheless, the Oyu
Tolgoi Project has a high profile among the citizens of Mongolia and, as a burgeoning democracy, Mongolia has
recently demonstrated a degree of political volatility. Accordingly, until these issues are addressed and clarified,
there can be no assurance that the present government or a future government will refrain from enacting legislation
or adopting government policies that are adverse to Ivanhoe Mines’ interests or that impair Ivanhoe Mines’ ability
to develop and operate the Oyu Tolgoi Project on the basis presently contemplated.

Ivanhoe Mines may experience difficulties with its joint venture partners.

A portion of the Oyu Tolgoi Project property is held by Entrée and subject to the Entrée Joint Venture. Ivanhoe
Mines is subject to the risks normally associated with the conduct of joint ventures, which include disagreements as
to how to develop, operate and finance a project and possible litigation between the participants regarding joint
venture matters. If any such risks are realized, it may have an adverse effect on Ivanhoe Mines’ ability to obtain the
full economic benefit of its interest in the property that is the subject of the joint venture, which could affect its
results of operations and financial condition.

Ivanhoe Mines may be unable to enforce its legal rights in certain circumstances.

In the event of a dispute arising at or in respect of, Ivanhoe Mines’ foreign operations, including the Oyu Tolgoi
Project, Ivanhoe Mines may be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of local courts or may not be successful in
subjecting foreign persons to the jurisdiction of courts in Canada or other jurisdictions. Ivanhoe Mines may also be
hindered or prevented from enforcing its rights with respect to a governmental entity or instrumentality because of
the doctrine of sovereign immunity.

Changes in, or more aggressive enforcement of, laws and regulations could adversely impact Ivanhoe
Mines’ business.

Mining operations and exploration activities are subject to extensive laws and regulations. These relate to
production, development, exploration, exports, imports, taxes and royalties, labour standards, occupational health,
waste disposal, protection and remediation of the environment, mine decommissioning and reclamation, mine
safety, toxic substances, transportation safety and emergency response and other matters.

Compliance with these laws and regulations increases the costs of exploring, drilling, developing, construct-
ing, operating and closing mines and other facilities. It is possible that the costs, delays and other effects associated
with these laws and regulations may impact Ivanhoe Mines’ decision as to whether to continue to operate in a
particular jurisdiction or whether to proceed with exploration or development of properties. Since legal require-
ments change frequently, are subject to interpretation and may be enforced to varying degrees in practice, Ivanhoe
Mines is unable to predict the ultimate cost of compliance with these requirements or their effect on operations.
Furthermore, changes in governments, regulations and policies and practices could have an adverse impact on
Ivanhoe Mines’ future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition.

Ivanhoe Mines is subject to substantial environmental and other regulatory requirements and such
regulations are becoming more stringent. Non-compliance with such regulations, either through current
or future operations or a pre-existing condition could materially adversely affect Ivanhoe Mines.

All phases of Ivanhoe Mines’ operations are subject to environmental regulations in the various jurisdictions in
which it operates. For example, the Oyu Tolgoi Project is subject to a requirement to prepare an environmental
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impact assessment, as well as other environmental protection obligations. Environmental legislation is evolving in a
manner which will likely require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-
compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of respon-
sibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. There is no assurance that future changes in
environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect Ivanhoe Mines’ operations. Environmental hazards may
exist on the properties in which the Ivanhoe Mines Group holds interests which are presently unknown to Ivanhoe
Mines and which have been caused by previous or existing third party owners or operators of the properties.

Government approvals and permits are often required in connection with various aspects of Ivanhoe Mines’
operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained, Ivanhoe Mines may be delayed or prevented
from proceeding with planned exploration or development of its mineral properties.

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement
actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be
curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment,
or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations may be required to compensate those suffering loss or
damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of
applicable laws or regulations.

Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining com-
panies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on Ivanhoe Mines and cause
increases in capital expenditures or production costs or reductions in levels of production at producing properties or
require abandonment or delays in development of new mining properties.

Previous mining operations may have caused environmental damage at current and former Ivanhoe
Mines mining projects, and if Ivanhoe Mines cannot prove that such damage was caused by such prior
operators, its indemnities and exemptions from liability may not be effective.

Ivanhoe Mines has received exemptions from liability from relevant governmental authorities for environ-
mental damage caused by previous mining operations at current and former mining projects, including at the
Bakyrchik gold project in Kazakhstan and the Cloncurry Project in Australia. There is a risk, however, that, if an
environmental accident occurred at those sites, it may be difficult or impossible to assess the extent to which
environmental damage was caused by Ivanhoe Mines’ activities or the activities of other operators. In that event, the
liability exemptions could be ineffective and possibly worthless.

The actual cost of developing the Oyu Tolgoi Project may differ significantly from Ivanhoe Mines’
estimates and involve unexpected problems or delays.

The estimates regarding the development and operation of the Oyu Tolgoi Project are based on the IDP05. This
study establishes estimates of resources, construction and development costs, operating costs and projects economic
returns. These estimates are based, in part, on assumptions about future metal prices and future cost inputs, and
variances in these inputs, as well as other inputs that form the basis of IDP05, may result in operating costs,
construction and development costs, production and economic returns that differ significantly from those antic-
ipated by the IDP05 and future development reports. In the case of operating costs, IDP05 derives estimates of
average cash operating costs based upon, among other things:

• anticipated tonnage, grades and metallurgical characteristics of ore to be mined and processed;

• anticipated recovery rates of copper and gold from the ore;

• cash operating costs of comparable facilities and equipment; and

• anticipated climatic conditions.
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There are also a number of uncertainties inherent in the development and construction of any new mine,
including the Oyu Tolgoi Project. These uncertainties include:

• the timing and cost, which can be considerable, of the construction of mining and processing facilities;

• the availability and cost of skilled labour, power, water and transportation;

• the availability and cost of appropriate smelting and refining arrangements;

• the need to obtain necessary environmental and other government permits, and the timing of those
permits; and

• the availability of funds to finance construction and development activities.

The cost, timing and complexities of mine construction and development are increased by the remote location
of a property such as the Oyu Tolgoi Project. It is common in new mining operations to experience unexpected
problems and delays during development, construction and mine start-up. In addition, delays in the commencement
of mineral production often occur. Accordingly, there is no assurance that future development activities will result
in profitable mining operations.

Ivanhoe Mines’ valuation of its investment in the commercial paper it received as a result of the ABCP
settlement may not reflect actual amounts recovered in the future

Ivanhoe Mines has valued its investment in the commercial paper resulting from the asset backed commercial
paper settlement using information that is publicly available at this time. Continuing uncertainties regarding the
value of the assets that underlie these investments and the amount and timing of cash flows could give rise to a
further change in their fair value. There can be no assurance that Ivanhoe Mines’ investment will be recoverable in
whole, in part or at all.

Ivanhoe Mines’ ability to obtain dividends or other distributions from its subsidiaries may be subject to
restrictions imposed by law, foreign currency exchange regulations and financing arrangements.

Ivanhoe Mines conducts its operations through subsidiaries. Its ability to obtain dividends or other distri-
butions from its subsidiaries may be subject to restrictions on dividends or repatriation of earnings under applicable
local law, monetary transfer restrictions and foreign currency exchange regulations in the jurisdictions in which the
subsidiaries operate. The subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to Ivanhoe Mines is also
subject to their having sufficient funds to do so. If the subsidiaries are unable to pay dividends or make other
distributions, Ivanhoe Mines’ growth may be inhibited unless it is able to obtain additional equity or debt financing
on acceptable terms. In the event of a subsidiary’s liquidation, Ivanhoe Mines may lose all or a portion of its
investment in that subsidiary.

There can be no assurance that the interest held by Ivanhoe Mines in its exploration, development and
mining properties is free from defects or that material contractual arrangements between Ivanhoe Mines
and entities owned or controlled by foreign governments will not be unilaterally altered or revoked.

Ivanhoe Mines has investigated its rights to explore and exploit its various properties and, to the best of its
knowledge, those rights are in good standing but no assurance can be given that such rights will not be revoked, or
significantly altered, to the detriment of Ivanhoe Mines. There can also be no assurance that Ivanhoe Mines’ rights
will not be challenged or impugned by third parties. Ivanhoe Mines has also applied for rights to explore, develop
and mine various properties, but there is no certainty that such rights, or any additional rights applied for, will be
granted on terms satisfactory to Ivanhoe Mines or at all.
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The proceeds from the sale of the Savage River Project are dependent on iron ore prices and the
remaining supply of ore at the Savage River Project.

The remaining portion of the proceeds payable to Ivanhoe Mines from the sale of the Savage River Project are
deferred, and the amount of such payments are dependent on prevailing prices for iron ore (as represented by the
Nibrasco/JSM pellet price) in the year that the compensation is paid and the total tonnage of iron ore pellets sold
from the Savage River Project in that year. Such prices are very volatile and in the past prices have suffered
significant declines. Lower prices mean lower corresponding payments to Ivanhoe Mines. In addition, while current
reserve and resource estimates indicate that the mine will be capable of producing sufficient ore to meet the desired
tonnes per year threshold for the term of deferred payments, there is no assurance that these estimates will actually
bear themselves out. If insufficient ore is actually present to produce the desired threshold amount of ore, then the
corresponding payments to Ivanhoe Mines will be lower.

Competition for new mining properties by larger, more established companies may prevent Ivanhoe Mines
from acquiring interests in additional properties or mining operations.

Significant and increasing competition exists for mineral acquisition opportunities throughout the world. As a
result of this competition, some of which is with large, better established mining companies with substantial
capabilities and greater financial and technical resources, Ivanhoe Mines may be unable to acquire rights to exploit
additional attractive mining properties on terms it considers acceptable. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that
Ivanhoe Mines will acquire any interest in additional operations that would yield reserves or result in commercial
mining operations.

There is no assurance that Ivanhoe Mines will be capable of consistently producing positive cash flows.

Ivanhoe Mines has paid no dividends on its Common Shares since incorporation and does not anticipate doing
so in the foreseeable future. Ivanhoe Mines has not, to date, produced positive cash flows from operations, and there
can be no assurance of its ability to operate its projects profitably. While Ivanhoe Mines may in the future generate
additional working capital through the operation, development, sale or possible syndication of its properties, there is
no assurance that Ivanhoe Mines will be capable of producing positive cash flow on a consistent basis or that any
such funds will be available for exploration and development programs.

A substantial portion of Ivanhoe Mines’ operations involve exploration and development and there is no
guarantee that any such activity will result in commercial production of mineral deposits.

Development of Ivanhoe Mines’ mineral properties is contingent upon obtaining satisfactory exploration
results. Mineral exploration and development involves substantial expenses and a high degree of risk, which even a
combination of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to adequately mitigate. There is no
assurance that additional commercial quantities of ore will be discovered on any of Ivanhoe Mines’ exploration
properties. There is also no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of ore are discovered, a mineral property
will be brought into commercial production. The discovery of mineral deposits is dependent upon a number of
factors, not the least of which is the technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. The commercial viability
of a mineral deposit, once discovered, is also dependent upon a number of factors, some of which are the particular
attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity to infrastructure, metal prices and government
regulations, including regulations relating to royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals,
and environmental protection. In addition, assuming discovery of a commercial ore body, depending on the type of
mining operation involved, several years can elapse from the initial phase of drilling until commercial operations
are commenced. Most of the above factors are beyond the control of Ivanhoe Mines.
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Ivanhoe Mines cannot insure against all of the risks associated with mining.

Exploration, development and production operations on mineral properties involve numerous risks and
hazards, including:

• rock bursts, slides, fires, earthquakes or other adverse environmental occurrences;

• industrial accidents;

• labour disputes;

• political and social instability;

• technical difficulties due to unusual or unexpected geological formations;

• failures of pit walls; and

• flooding and periodic interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather condition.

These risks can result in, among other things:

• damage to, and destruction of, mineral properties or production facilities;

• personal injury;

• environmental damage;

• delays in mining;

• monetary losses; and

• legal liability.

It is not always possible to obtain insurance against all such risks and Ivanhoe Mines may decide not to insure
against certain risks as a result of high premiums or other reasons. The incurrence of an event that is not fully
covered, or covered at all, by insurance, could have a material adverse effect on Ivanhoe Mines’ financial
conditions, results of operations and cash flows and could lead to a decline in the value of the securities of Ivanhoe
Mines. Ivanhoe Mines does not maintain insurance against political or environmental risks.

As a result of the rights to acquire Common Shares and other rights granted to Rio Tinto pursuant to the
Rio Tinto Transaction and the Rio Tinto Credit Agreement, Rio Tinto has the ability to significantly
influence the business and affairs of Ivanhoe Mines.

Rio Tinto’s original subscription for Common Shares pursuant to the Rio Tinto Transaction and the various
rights granted to Rio Tinto to acquire additional Common Shares through the second tranche private placement, the
exercise of share purchase warrants and the right to convert the indebtedness outstanding under the Rio Tinto Credit
Agreement will give Rio Tinto the voting power to significantly influence the policies, business and affairs of
Ivanhoe Mines and the outcome of any significant corporate transaction or other matter, including a merger,
business combination or a sale of all, or substantially all, of Ivanhoe Mines’ assets. Subject to certain limited
exceptions, Rio Tinto also has a right of first refusal with respect to any proposed disposition by Ivanhoe Mines of an
interest in the Oyu Tolgoi Project. Rio Tinto’s share position in Ivanhoe Mines and its right of first refusal with
respect to the Oyu Tolgoi Project may have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a transaction involving a
change of control of Ivanhoe Mines in favour of a third party that otherwise could result in a premium in the market
price of the Common Shares in the future.
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Rio Tinto will also be able to significantly influence the management, development and operation of the Oyu
Tolgoi Project through its representatives on the Oyu Tolgoi Technical Committee, established to manage the Oyu
Tolgoi Project. Provided Rio Tinto maintains a minimum level of shareholding in Ivanhoe Mines, Rio Tinto’s
appointees to the Oyu Tolgoi Technical Committee will have a veto over certain specified material decisions until
October 2009 and, thereafter, Rio Tinto appointees will represent a majority of the members of the Oyu Tolgoi
Technical Committee and will thereby be entitled to control the ongoing decisions made by the Technical
Committee.

Ivanhoe Mines is exposed to risks of changing political stability and government regulation in the
countries in which it operates.

Ivanhoe Mines holds mineral interests in countries, which may be affected in varying degrees by political
stability, government regulations relating to the mining industry and foreign investment therein, and the policies of
other nations in respect of these countries. Any changes in regulations or shifts in political conditions are beyond the
control of Ivanhoe Mines and may adversely affect its business. Ivanhoe Mines’ operations may be affected in
varying degrees by government regulations, including those with respect to restrictions on production, price
controls, export controls, income taxes, expropriation of property, employment, land use, water use, environmental
legislation and mine safety. Ivanhoe Mines’ operations may also be affected in varying degrees by political and
economic instability, economic or other sanctions imposed by other nations, terrorism, military repression, crime,
extreme fluctuations in currency exchange rates and high inflation.

In certain areas where Ivanhoe Mines is active, the regulatory environment is in a state of continuing change,
and new laws, regulations and requirements may be retroactive in their effect and implementation. The laws of
many of the countries in which Ivanhoe Mines operates also contain inconsistencies and contradictions. Many of
them are structured to bestow on government bureaucrats substantial administrative discretion in their application
and enforcement with the result that the laws are subject to changing and different interpretations. As such, even
Ivanhoe Mines’ best efforts to comply with the laws may not result in effective compliance in the determination of
government bureaucrats.

Ivanhoe Mines’ prospects depend on its ability to attract and retain key personnel.

Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel is critical to Ivanhoe Mines’ success. The number of persons
skilled in the acquisition, exploration and development of mining properties is limited and competition for such
persons is intense. Ivanhoe Mines believes that it has been successful in recruiting excellent personnel to meet its
corporate objectives but, as Ivanhoe Mines’ business activity grows, it will require additional key financial,
administrative, mining, marketing and public relations personnel as well as additional staff on the operations side.
Although Ivanhoe Mines believes that it will be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, there can
be no assurance of such success.

Certain directors of Ivanhoe Mines are directors or officers of, or have significant shareholdings, in other
mineral resource companies and there is the potential that such directors will encounter conflicts of
interest with Ivanhoe Mines.

Certain of the directors of Ivanhoe Mines are directors or officers of, or have significant shareholdings in, other
mineral resource companies and, to the extent that such other companies may participate in ventures in which
Ivanhoe Mines may participate, the directors of Ivanhoe Mines may have a conflict of interest in negotiating and
concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. This includes the nominees of Rio Tinto, which is
entitled to nominate directors to the board of directors of Ivanhoe Mines in proportion to its holdings of Ivanhoe
Mines’ issued and outstanding common shares from time to time. Certain of these nominees are or may be directors
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or officers of, or have significant shareholdings in, Rio Tinto companies or other mineral resource companies and, to
the extent that such companies may engage in business relationships with Ivanhoe Mines, the directors of Ivanhoe
Mines appointed by Rio Tinto may have conflicts of interest in negotiating and concluding terms of such
relationships. In all cases where directors and officers have an interest in another resource company, such other
companies may also compete with Ivanhoe Mines for the acquisition of mineral property rights. In the event that any
such conflict of interest arises, a director who has such a conflict will disclose the conflict to a meeting of the
directors of Ivanhoe Mines and will abstain from voting for or against the approval of such participation or such
terms. In appropriate cases, Ivanhoe Mines will establish a special committee of independent directors to review a
matter in which several directors, or management, may have a conflict. From time to time, several companies may
participate in the acquisition, exploration and development of natural resource properties thereby allowing their
participation in larger programs, permitting involvement in a greater number of programs and reducing financial
exposure in respect of any one program. It may also occur that a particular company will assign all or a portion of its
interest in a particular program to another of these companies due to the financial position of the company making
the assignment. In accordance with the laws of the Yukon Business Corporations Act, the directors of Ivanhoe
Mines are required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of Ivanhoe Mines. In determining whether
or not Ivanhoe Mines will participate in a particular program and the interest therein to be acquired by it, the
directors will primarily consider the potential benefits to Ivanhoe Mines, the degree of risk to which Ivanhoe Mines
may be exposed and its financial position at that time.

Capital markets are experiencing increased volatility.

In recent years and especially over the course of the last year, securities markets throughout the world have
experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of many companies,
particularly those in the resource sector, has experienced wide fluctuations which have not necessarily been related
to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. If these increased levels of
volatility and market turmoil continue, our operations could be adversely impacted and there can be no assurance
that such fluctuations will not continue to affect the price of Ivanhoe Mines’ securities.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following tables summarize related party expenses incurred by Ivanhoe Mines, primarily on a cost
recovery basis, with an officer of a subsidiary of Ivanhoe Mines, a company affiliated with Ivanhoe Mines, or with
companies related by way of directors or shareholders in common. The tables below summarize the transactions
with related parties and the types of expenditures incurred with related parties:

2008 2007

Years Ended
December 31,

($000’s of U.S. dollars)

Global Mining Management Corporation(a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,147 $ 8,577

Ivanhoe Capital Aviation LLC(b). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,840 3,840

Fognani & Faught, PLLC(c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 621 1,583

Rio Tinto plc(d) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,783 1,330

Ivanhoe Capital Pte. Ltd.(e). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 10

Ivanhoe Capital Services Ltd.(f) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 601 958

$17,992 $16,298
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2008 2007

Years Ended
December 31,

Exploration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,783 $ 1,330

Legal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 621 1,583

Office and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,451 2,756

Salaries and benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,297 6,789

Travel (including aircraft rental) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,840 3,840

$17,992 $16,298

The above noted transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable at December 31, 2008, included $0.1 million and $3.2 million,
respectively (December 31, 2007 — $0.2 million and $4.0 million, respectively), which were due from/to a
company under common control, a company affiliated with Ivanhoe Mines, or companies related by way of
directors in common.

(a) Global Mining Management Corporation (Global) is a private company based in Vancouver owned equally
by seven companies, one of which is Ivanhoe Mines. Global has a director in common with the Company. Global
provides administration, accounting, and other office services to the Company on a cost-recovery basis.

(b) Ivanhoe Capital Aviation LLC (Aviation) is a private company 100% owned by the Company’s Chairman.
Aviation operates an aircraft which is rented by the Company on a cost-recovery basis.

(c) An officer of a subsidiary of Ivanhoe Mines is a partner with Fognani & Faught, PLLC, a legal firm which
provides legal services to Ivanhoe Mines.

(d) Rio Tinto owns 9.9% of Ivanhoe Mines. Rio Tinto provides engineering related services for the Oyu Tolgoi
Project on a cost-recovery basis.

(e) Ivanhoe Capital Pte. Ltd. (ICPL) is a private company 100% owned by the Company’s Chairman. ICPL
provides administration, accounting, and other office services in Singapore and London on a cost-recovery basis.

(f) Ivanhoe Capital Services Ltd. (ICS) is a private company 100% owned by the Company’s Chairman. ICS
provides management services out of Singapore on a cost-recovery basis.

At the end of December 31, 2007, Ivanhoe Mines’ discontinued Savage River operations owed approximately
$5.1 million to the Company’s Chairman. This debt originated as a result of the December 2000 acquisition, by
Ivanhoe Mines, of the Savage River operation. Following the sale of the Savage River operations in February 2005,
repayment of this balance was contingent upon Ivanhoe Mines receiving proceeds in excess of approximately
$111.1 million from the sale of the Savage River operations. In October 2008, Ivanhoe Mines discharged the
obligation for $4.3 million.

During October 2008, Ivanhoe Mines purchased 1.0 million common shares and 3.4 million special warrants
of Ivanhoe Nickel & Platinum Ltd (Ivanplats) from two asset management firms for consideration of 2.2 million
common shares of Ivanhoe Mines. The transaction closed October 24, 2008. Ivanplats is a private company and is
related to Ivanhoe Mines by certain directors in common.
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information
is gathered and reported to senior management, including the Company’s principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure.

As of the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the
Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)) was carried out by the Company’s management
with the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer. Based upon that evaluation,
the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as of the end of that
fiscal year, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms
and (ii) accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

It should be noted that while the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer believe
that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures provide a reasonable level of assurance that they are
effective, they do not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over
financial reporting will prevent all errors and fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived or operated,
can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s
financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Internal control
over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting
principles and the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission in the United States, as applicable. The
Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer have assessed the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008 in accordance with Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Based on this assessment, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer have
determined that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008 and
have certified Ivanhoe Mines’ annual filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 40-F as
required by the United States Sarbanes-Oxley Act and with Canadian securities regulatory authorities.

Management reviewed the results of management’s assessment with the Audit Committee of the Company’s
Board of Directors. Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered chartered accountants, was engaged, as
approved by a vote of the Company’s shareholders, to audit and provide independent opinions on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2008. Deloitte & Touche LLP has provided such opinions.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

During the year ended December 31, 2008 there were no changes in the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.
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QUALIFIED PERSONS

Disclosures of a scientific or technical nature in this MD&A in respect of each of Ivanhoe Mines’ material
mineral resource properties were prepared by, or under the supervision of, the “qualified persons” (as that term is
defined in NI 43-101) listed below:

Project Qualified Person
Relationship to
Ivanhoe Mines

Oyu Tolgoi Project . . . . . . . . . . Stephen Torr, P.Geo, Ivanhoe Mines Employee of the Company

Ovoot Tolgoi Project . . . . . . . . Stephen Torr, P.Geo, Ivanhoe Mines Employee of the Company

OVERSIGHT ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee reviews, with management and the external auditors, the Company’s MD&A and related
consolidated financial statements and approves the release of such information to shareholders. For each audit or
quarterly review, the external auditors prepare a report for members of the Audit Committee summarizing key areas,
significant issues and material internal control weaknesses encountered, if any.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

LANGUAGE REGARDING RESERVES AND RESOURCES

Readers are advised that National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (NI 43-101)
of the Canadian Securities Administrators requires that each category of mineral reserves and mineral resources be
reported separately. For detailed information related to Company resources and reserves, readers should refer to the
Annual Information Form of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2008, and other continuous disclosure
documents filed by the Company since January 1, 2009, at www.sedar.com.

NOTE TO UNITED STATES INVESTORS CONCERNING ESTIMATES OF MEASURED, INDICATED
AND INFERRED RESOURCES

This document, including the documents incorporated by reference herein, has been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of securities laws in effect in Canada, which differ from the requirements of United States
securities laws. Without limiting the foregoing, this document, including the documents incorporated by reference
herein, uses the terms “measured”, “indicated” and “inferred” resources. United States investors are advised that,
while such terms are recognized and required by Canadian securities laws, the SEC does not recognize them. Under
United States standards, mineralization may not be classified as a “reserve” unless the determination has been made
that the mineralization could be economically and legally produced or extracted at the time the reserve deter-
mination is made. United States investors are cautioned not to assume that all or any part of measured or indicated
resources will ever be converted into reserves. Further, “inferred resources” have a great amount of uncertainty as to
their existence and as to whether they can be mined legally or economically. It cannot be assumed that all or any part
of the “inferred resources” will ever be upgraded to a higher category. Therefore, United States investors are also
cautioned not to assume that all or any part of the inferred resources exist, or that they can be mined legally or
economically. Disclosure of “contained ounces” is a permitted disclosure under Canadian regulations; however, the
SEC only permits issuers to report “resources” as in place tonnage and grade without reference to unit measures.
Accordingly, information concerning descriptions of mineralization and resources contained in this document, or in
the documents incorporated by reference, may not be comparable to information made public by United States
companies subject to the reporting and disclosure requirements of the SEC. National Instrument 43-101 Standards
of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (NI 43-101) is a rule developed by the Canadian Securities Administrators that
establishes standards for all public disclosure an issuer makes of scientific and technical information concerning
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mineral projects. Unless otherwise indicated, all reserve and resource estimates contained in or incorporated by
reference in this document have been prepared in accordance with NI 43-101. These standards differ significantly
from the requirements of the SEC, and reserve and resource information contained herein and incorporated by
reference herein may not be comparable to similar information disclosed by U.S. companies. NI 43-101 permits a
historical estimate made prior to the adoption of NI 43-101 that does not comply with NI 43-101 to be disclosed
using the historical terminology if the disclosure: (a) identifies the source and date of the historical estimate;
(b) comments on the relevance and reliability of the historical estimate; (c) states whether the historical estimate
uses categories other than those prescribed by NI 43-101; and (d) includes any more recent estimates or data
available.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements made herein, including statements relating to matters that are not historical facts and
statements of our beliefs, intentions and expectations about developments, results and events which will or may occur
in the future, constitute “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities
legislation and “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the “safe harbor” provisions of the United
States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking information and statements are typically
identified by words such as “anticipate,” “could,” “should,” “expect,” “seek,” “may,” “intend,” “likely,” “plan,”
“estimate,” “will”, “believe” and similar expressions suggesting future outcomes or statements regarding an outlook.
These include, but are not limited to, statements respecting anticipated business activities; planned expenditures;
corporate strategies; proposed acquisitions and dispositions of assets; discussions with third parties respecting material
agreements; the expected timing and outcome of Ivanhoe Mines’ discussions with representatives of the Government
of Mongolia for an Investment Agreement in respect of the Oyu Tolgoi Project; the timing of commencement of full
construction of the Oyu Tolgoi Project: the estimated timing and cost of bringing the Oyu Tolgoi Project into
commercial production; anticipated future production and cash flows; target milling rates; the impact of amendments
to the laws of Mongolia and other countries in which Ivanhoe Mines carries on business; the anticipated future
production for the Ovoot Tolgoi Coal Mine; the potential improvement of the export conditions at the Ceke border
between Mongolia and China and the completion of a feasibility study on the Ovoot Tolgoi Coal Mine; the potential of
plans to make non-core projects self-funding, and other statements that are not historical facts.

All such forward-looking information and statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by
Ivanhoe Mines’ management in light of their experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and
expected future developments, as well as other factors management believes are appropriate in the circumstances.
These statements, however, are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties and other factors that could cause
actual events or results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking information or statements.
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ from these forward-looking statements include those
described under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties” elsewhere in this MD&A. The reader is cautioned not to
place undue reliance on forward-looking information or statements.

This MD&A also contains references to estimates of mineral reserves and mineral resources. The estimation of
reserves and resources is inherently uncertain and involves subjective judgments about many relevant factors. The
accuracy of any such estimates is a function of the quantity and quality of available data, and of the assumptions
made and judgments used in engineering and geological interpretation, which may prove to be unreliable. There can
be no assurance that these estimates will be accurate or that such mineral reserves and mineral resources can be
mined or processed profitably. Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic
viability. Except as required by law, the Company does not assume the obligation to revise or update these forward-
looking statements after the date of this document or to revise them to reflect the occurrence of future unanticipated
events.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Consolidated Financial Statements and the management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition
and results of operations (MD&A) are the responsibility of the management of Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. These financial
statements and the MD&A have been prepared by management in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States and regulatory requirements, respectively, using management’s best estimates and
judgment of all information available up to March 31, 2009.

The Board of Directors has approved the information contained in the consolidated financial statements and
the MD&A. The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for
financial reporting and internal controls. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely of
outside directors, meets regularly during the year with financial officers of the Company and the external auditors to
satisfy itself that management is properly discharging its financial reporting responsibilities to the Directors who
approve the consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements have, in management’s opinion, been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality and within the framework of the accounting policies summarized in Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered
chartered accountants, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). They have full and unrestricted access to the Audit
Committee.

/s/ “John Macken” /s/ “Tony Giardini”

John Macken
President and CEO

Tony Giardini
Chief Financial Officer

March 31, 2009
Vancouver, BC, Canada
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Report of Independent Registered Chartered Accountants and Consolidated Financial Statements of
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Report of Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
IVANHOE MINES LTD.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). These standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orga-
nizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 30, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

(signed) Deloitte & Touche LLP
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 30, 2009

Comments by Independent Registered Chartered Accountants on Canada-United States
of America Reporting Difference

The standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) require the addition of an
explanatory paragraph (following the opinion paragraph) when there are changes in accounting principles that have
a material effect on the comparability of the Company’s financial statements, such as the changes described in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. Although we conducted our audits in accordance with both
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) our report to the Board of Directors and Shareholders, dated March 30, 2009, is expressed in
accordance with Canadian reporting standards which do not require a reference to such changes in accounting
principles in the auditors’ report when the changes are properly accounted for and adequately disclosed in the
financial statements.

(signed) Deloitte & Touche LLP
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 30, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
IVANHOE MINES LTD.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2008 of the Company and our report dated March 30, 2009 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included a separate report titled Comments by Independent
Registered Chartered Accountants on Canada-United States of America Reporting Difference referring to changes
in accounting principles.

(signed) Deloitte & Touche LLP
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 30, 2009
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IVANHOE MINES LTD.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

2008 2007
December 31,

(Stated in thousands of
U.S. dollars)

ASSETS
CURRENT

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 384,110 $ 145,694
Accounts receivable (Note 7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47,520 37,076
Inventories (Note 8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,136 1,996
Prepaid expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,160 7,183
Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 144 144

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 459,070 192,093
LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 9) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55,945 52,010
OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 10). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,301 47,132
NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM RELATED PARTY (Note 11) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 7,512
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 199,281 225,623
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (Note 18). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 770
OTHER ASSETS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,605 5,030
TOTAL ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 742,202 $ 530,170

LIABILITIES
CURRENT

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 13) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 41,103 $ 109,310
Amounts due under credit facilities (Note 14) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,963 17,050

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,066 126,360
CONVERTIBLE CREDIT FACILITY (Note 15) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 349,128 137,854
LOANS PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES (Note 16) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 5,088
DERIVATIVE CONTRACT (Note 17) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,320 —
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (Note 18). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,512 1,511
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS (Note 19) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,922 9,160
TOTAL LIABILITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 424,948 279,973
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 27)
MINORITY INTERESTS (Note 20) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,692 —

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
SHARE CAPITAL (Note 21)

Authorized
Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value
Unlimited number of common shares without par value
Issued and outstanding

378,046,013 (2007 — 375,073,433) common shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,485,864 1,477,457
SHARE PURCHASE WARRANTS AND SHARE ISSUANCE COMMITMENT

(Note 21 (b) and (c)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,560 26,619
BENEFICIAL CONVERSION FEATURE (Note 15). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,883 11,869
ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 293,485 52,649
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME (Note 22) . . . (24,222) 17,498
DEFICIT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,520,008) (1,335,895)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 296,562 250,197
TOTAL LIABILITIES, MINORITY INTERESTS AND SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 742,202 $ 530,170

APPROVED BY THE BOARD:

/s/ D. Korbin
D. Korbin, Director

/s/ K. Thygesen
K. Thygesen, Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IVANHOE MINES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

2008 2007
Year Ended December 31,

(Stated in thousands of
U.S. dollars, except for share

and per share amounts)

REVENUE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,126 $ —
COST OF SALES

Production and delivery . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,931) —
Depreciation and depletion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (314) —

COST OF SALES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,245) —

EXPENSES
Exploration (Note 3 and 21 (a)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (260,281) (304,024)
General and administrative (Note 21 (a)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (27,453) (27,074)
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,957) (4,222)
Mining property care and maintenance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,342) (6,533)
Accretion of convertible credit facility (Note 15) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,658) (901)
Accretion of asset retirement obligations (Note 19) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (429) (698)
Write-down of carrying values of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (515) (1,078)

TOTAL EXPENSES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (315,880) (344,530)

OPERATING LOSS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (312,754) (344,530)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,182 12,936
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,599) (2,547)
Foreign exchange (losses) gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (62,946) 11,891
Share of income from investment held for sale (Note 5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 427
Write-down of carrying value of investment held for sale (Note 5) . . . . . . . . . . . . — (134,309)
Write-down of carrying value of long-term investments (Note 9) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,103) —
Write-down of carrying value of other long-term investments (Note 10) . . . . . . . . (18,009) (24,541)
Gain on sale of long-term investment and note receivable (Note 9) . . . . . . . . . . . . 201,428 1,018
Other (expense) income (Note 23) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14,171) —

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND OTHER ITEMS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (217,972) (479,655)
Provision for income taxes (Note 18) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,314) (795)
Share of loss of significantly influenced investees (Note 9) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,092) (9,165)
Minority interests (Note 20) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,270 —

NET LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (218,108) (489,615)
INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33,995 31,902

NET LOSS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(184,113) $(457,713)

BASIC AND DILUTED (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.58) $ (1.31)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.09 0.09

$ (0.49) $ (1.22)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING (000’s) . . . . . . . 375,801 374,504

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IVANHOE MINES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Number
of Shares Amount

Share Purchase
Warrants and
Share Issuance
Commitment

Beneficial
Conversion

Feature

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Loss) Income Deficit Total

Share Capital

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for share amounts)

Balances, December 31, 2006 . . . . . 373,463,637 $1,462,039 $23,062 $ — $ 33,705 $ 13,233 $ (878,182) $ 653,857
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — (457,713) (457,713)
Other comprehensive income

(Note 22) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 4,265 — 4,265

Comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . (453,448)

Shares issued for:
Exercise of stock options . . . . . . . 1,520,634 14,232 — — (4,372) — — 9,860
Bonus shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,741 830 — — — — — 830
Share purchase plan . . . . . . . . . . 28,561 331 — — — — — 331
Share purchase warrants . . . . . . . 2,860 25 — — — — — 25

Convertible credit facility and share
purchase warrants (Notes 15 and
21 (c)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 3,557 11,869 — — — 15,426

Dilution gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 6,073 — — 6,073
Stock compensation charged to

operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 17,243 — — 17,243

Balances, December 31, 2007 . . . . . 375,073,433 $1,477,457 $26,619 $11,869 $ 52,649 $ 17,498 $(1,335,895) $ 250,197
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — (184,113) (184,113)
Other comprehensive loss (Note 22) . . — — — — — (41,720) — (41,720)

Comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . (225,833)

Shares issued for:
Acquisition of investment

(Note 9 (d) (v)), net of issue
costs of $31 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,224,698 4,339 — — — — — 4,339

Exercise of stock options . . . . . . . 463,127 3,022 — — (1,663) — — 1,359
Private placement (Note 21 (b)) . . . 243,772 612 — — — — — 612
Share purchase plan . . . . . . . . . . 40,983 434 — — — — — 434

Share purchase warrants
(Note 21 (b)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 94 — — — — 94

Convertible credit facility and share
purchase warrants (Notes 15 and
21 (c)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 5,847 17,014 — — — 22,861

Dilution gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 213,285 — — 213,285
Stock compensation charged to

operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 29,214 — — 29,214

Balances, December 31, 2008 . . . . . 378,046,013 $1,485,864 $32,560 $28,883 $293,485 $(24,222) $(1,520,008) $ 296,562

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IVANHOE MINES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

2008 2007
Year Ended December 31,

(Stated in thousands of
U.S. dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash used in operating activities (Note 24 (a)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(318,749) $(238,791)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,230 20,314

Reclassification of other long-term investments (Note 10) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (70,691)

Purchase of long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (39,497) (16,523)

Loan to related party (Note 11) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (7,014)

Proceeds from sale of long-term investments and note receivable (Note 9) . . . . . . . 216,730 1,163
Cash reduction on commencement of equity accounting (Note 9 (a)) . . . . . . . . . . . (2,865) —

Expenditures on property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (143,897) (93,581)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment (Note 12 (f)) . . . . . . . . . . . . 121,498 —

Expenditures on other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,113) (1,106)

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180,086 (167,438)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from convertible credit facility (Note 15) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200,000 150,000

Proceeds from credit facilities (Note 14) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 17,243

Issue of share capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,374 10,216

Repayment of loan payable to related party (Note 16) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,250) —

Minority interests’ investment in subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 246,293 2,399

Cash provided by financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 444,417 179,858

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (67,338) 8,493

NET CASH INFLOW (OUTFLOW) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 238,416 (217,878)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 145,694 363,572

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 384,110 $ 145,694

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IS COMPRISED OF:
Cash on hand and demand deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 119,458 $ 29,427

Short-term money market instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 264,652 116,267

$ 384,110 $ 145,694

Supplementary cash flow information (Note 24)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IVANHOE MINES LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Stated in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted; tabular amounts in thousands)

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Ivanhoe
Mines”), is an international mineral exploration, development and production company holding interests in and
conducting operations on mineral resource properties principally located in Central Asia and Australia.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States of America
generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The significant accounting policies used in these
consolidated financial statements are as follows:

(a) Principles of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all its subsidiaries. The
principal subsidiaries of the Company are Ivanhoe Mines Mongolia Inc. (B.V.I.), Ivanhoe Australia Limited (83%
owned) (“Ivanhoe Australia”), and SouthGobi Energy Resources Ltd. (B.C., Canada) (80% owned) (“SouthGobi”),
and their respective subsidiaries.

Altynalmas Gold Ltd. (B.C., Canada) (“Altynalmas”), along with its subsidiary Bakyrchik Mining Venture
(Kazakhstan) (“BMV”), ceased being a subsidiary of the Company in October 2008 and from October 3, 2008
onwards it has been accounted for as an equity method investment (Note 9 (a)). At December 31, 2008, Ivanhoe
Mines owns 49% of Altynalmas.

On February 27, 2007, the investment held for sale ceased being accounted for using the equity method. From
February 28, 2007 onwards, the investment held for sale has been accounted for under the cost method (Note 5).

All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Variable Interest Entities (“VIE’s”), which include, but are not limited to, special purpose entities, trusts,
partnerships, and other legal structures, as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpre-
tation No. 46 (Revised 2003) (“FIN 46R”) “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities — an Interpretation of ARB
No. 51”, are entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a “controlling financial interest” or
there is not sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support. VIE’s are subject to consolidation by the primary beneficiary who will absorb the majority of the entities’
expected losses and/or expected residual returns.

(b) Measurement uncertainties

Generally accepted accounting principles require management to make assumptions and estimates that affect
the reported amounts and other disclosures in these consolidated financial statements. Actual results may differ
from those estimates.

Significant estimates used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements include, among other
things, the recoverability of accounts receivable and investments, the proven and probable ore reserves, the
estimated recoverable tonnes of ore from each mine area, the estimated net realizable value of inventories, the
provision for income taxes and composition of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities, the
expected economic lives of and the estimated future operating results and net cash flows from property, plant and
equipment, depreciation and depletion, stock-based compensation, beneficial conversion feature, estimated fair
value of share purchase warrants and share issuance commitment, estimated fair value of derivative contracts, and
the anticipated costs and timing of asset retirement obligations.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Foreign currencies

The Company has determined the U.S. dollar to be its functional currency as it is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate. Accordingly, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the
balance sheet date and non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates in effect at the time of
acquisition or issue. Revenues and expenses are translated at rates approximating the exchange rates in effect at the
time of the transactions. All exchange gains and losses are included in operations.

For foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is the local currency, assets and liabilities are translated into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date, while revenues and expenses are translated at
average rates in effect for the period. The related translation gains and losses are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders’ equity. As a result of Ivanhoe Australia’s initial public offering in
August 2008, it was determined that Ivanhoe Australia’s functional currency changed from the U.S. dollar to the
Australian dollar.

(d) Revenue recognition

Sales revenues are recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer, collection is
reasonably assured and the price is reasonably determinable. This occurs when coal is either loaded onto a train or
truck or when it is unloaded at the final destination, depending on the terms of the sales contract.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include short-term money market instruments with terms to maturity, at the date of
acquisition, not exceeding 90 days.

(f) Inventories

Stockpiles are valued at the lower of production cost and net realizable value. Production cost includes direct
and indirect labour, operating materials and supplies, transportation costs, and an applicable portion of operating
overhead, including depreciation. Net realizable value is the expected difference between the average selling price
of the finished product less the costs to get the product into saleable form and to the selling location.

Mine stores and supplies are valued at the lower of the weighted average cost, less allowances for obsoles-
cence, and replacement cost.

(g) Long-term investments

Long-term investments in companies in which Ivanhoe Mines has voting interests between 20% and 50%, or
where Ivanhoe Mines has the ability to exercise significant influence, are accounted for using the equity method.
Under this method, Ivanhoe Mines’ share of the investees’ earnings and losses is included in operations and its
investments therein are adjusted by a like amount. Dividends received are credited to the investment accounts.

The other long-term investments are classified as “available-for-sale” investments. Unrealized gains and losses
on these investments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity, unless the declines in market value are judged to be other than temporary, in which case the
losses are recognized in income in the period. Realized gains and losses from the sale of these investments are
included in income in the period.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Exploration and development

All direct costs related to the acquisition of mineral property interests are capitalized in the period incurred.

Generally, exploration costs are charged to operations in the period incurred until such time as it has been
determined that a property has economically recoverable reserves, in which case subsequent exploration costs and
the costs incurred to develop a property are capitalized. Exploration costs include value-added taxes incurred in
foreign jurisdictions when recoverability of those taxes is uncertain.

Certain costs incurred constructing surface assets for an exploration shaft have been capitalized (Note 12 (b)).
These surface assets included the shaft head frame, control room, hoisting equipment and ancillary facilities. The
Company determined that these costs met the definition of an asset and that they were recoverable through salvage
value or transfer of the assets to other locations. These costs were tested for impairment using estimated future cash
flows based on reserves and resources beyond proven and probable reserves, in accordance with accounting policy
Note 2 (i) for property, plant and equipment.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost (including development and preproduction costs, capitalized
interest, other financing costs and all direct administrative support costs incurred during the construction period, net
of cost recoveries and incidental revenues), less accumulated depletion and depreciation including write-downs.
Following the construction period, interest, other financing costs and administrative costs are expensed as incurred.

On the commencement of commercial production, depletion of each mining property is provided on the unit-
of-production basis, using estimated proven and probable reserves as the depletion basis.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated, following the commencement of commercial production, over
their expected economic lives using either the unit-of-production method or the straight-line method (over one to
twenty years).

Capital works in progress are not depreciated until the capital asset has been put into operation.

Ivanhoe Mines reviews the carrying values of its property, plant and equipment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. An impairment is considered to exist if
total estimated future cash flows, or probability-weighted cash flows on an undiscounted basis, are less than the
carrying value of the assets. An impairment loss is measured and recorded based on discounted estimated future
cash flows associated with values beyond proven and probable reserves and resources. In estimating future cash
flows, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there is identifiable future cash flows that are largely
independent of cash flows from other asset groups. Generally, in estimating future cash flows, all assets are grouped
at a particular mine for which there is identifiable cash flows.

(j) Stripping costs

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a mine are variable production costs that are included
in the costs of inventory produced during the period that the stripping costs are incurred.

(k) Asset retirement obligations

Ivanhoe Mines recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual or legal obligations associated with the
retirement of property, plant and equipment, when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction,
development or normal operation of the assets. Initially, a liability for an asset retirement obligation is recognized at
its fair value in the period in which it is incurred. Upon initial recognition of the liability, the corresponding asset
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

retirement cost is added to the carrying amount of that asset and the cost is amortized as an expense over the
economic life of the related asset. Following the initial recognition of the asset retirement obligation, the carrying
amount of the liability is increased for the passage of time and adjusted for changes to the amount or timing of the
underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.

(l) Stock-based compensation

The Company has an Employees’ and Directors’ Equity Incentive Plan which is disclosed in Note 21. Under
SFAS No. 123(R) the fair value of stock options at the date of grant is amortized to operations, with an offsetting
credit to additional paid-in capital, on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. If and when the stock options are
ultimately exercised, the applicable amounts of additional paid-in capital are transferred to share capital.

(m) Deferred income taxes

The Company computes income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”.
SFAS 109 requires that the provision for deferred income taxes be based on the liability method. Deferred taxes
arise from the recognition of the tax consequences of temporary differences by applying statutory tax rates
applicable to future years to differences between the financial statement’s carrying amounts and the tax bases of
certain assets and liabilities. The Company records a valuation allowance against any portion of those deferred
income tax assets that management believes will, more likely than not, fail to be realized.

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”). This interpretation
clarifies the recognition threshold and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken on a tax return.
FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim
periods, disclosures and transition. No cumulative effect adjustment to the January 1, 2007 balance of the
Company’s deficit was required upon the implementation of FIN 48.

The Company recognizes accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and
penalties in operating expenses.

(n) Loss per share

The Company follows SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”, which requires the presentation of basic and
diluted earnings per share. The basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common
stock by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. All stock options and share
purchase warrants outstanding at each period end have been excluded from the weighted average share calculation.
The effect of potentially dilutive stock options and share purchase warrants was antidilutive in the years ending
December 31, 2008 and 2007.

The potentially dilutive shares excluded from the loss per share calculation due to antidilution are as follows:

2008 2007
December 31,

Options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,810,470 14,563,900

Share purchase warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 128,493,450 127,053,044

Convertible credit facility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,416,459 15,237,788

Total potentially dilutive shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 184,720,379 156,854,732
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Segmented reporting

The Company has two operating segments, its coal division located in Mongolia and Indonesia, and its
exploration and development division with projects located primarily in Mongolia and Australia.

(p) Accounting changes

• Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS 157”).
In February 2008, the FASB issued a staff position that delays the effective date of FAS 157 for all
nonfinancial assets and liabilities except those recognized or disclosed at least annually. Therefore, the
Company has adopted the provision of FAS 157 with respect to its financial assets and liabilities only.
FAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about
fair value measurements. Fair value is defined under FAS 157 as the exchange price that would be received
for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.

In October 2008, the FASB staff issued FSP SFAS No. 157-3, “Determining the Fair Value of a Financial
Asset When the Market for that Asset is Not Active” (“FSP FAS 157-3”), which clarifies the application of
FAS 157 in an inactive market. The intent of this FSP is to provide guidance on how the fair value of a
financial asset is to be determined when the market for that financial asset is inactive. FSP FAS 157-3 states
that determining fair value in an inactive market depends on the facts and circumstances, requires the use of
significant judgement and in some cases, observable inputs may require significant adjustment based on
unobservable data. Regardless of the valuation technique used, an entity must include appropriate risk
adjustments that market participants would make for non-performance and liquidity risks when determining
the fair value of an asset in an inactive market. FSP FAS 157-3 was effective upon issuance. The Company
has incorporated the principles of FSP FAS 157-3 in determining the fair value of financial assets when the
market for those assets is not active.

Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under FAS 157 must maximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The standard describes a fair value hierarchy based on three
levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used
to measure fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under FAS 157 are as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has
the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are observable, either directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value
measurement and unobservable.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The adoption of this statement did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results
of operations. All fair value adjustments at December 31, 2008 represent assets or liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis. Fair values as of December 31, 2008, were calculated as follows:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair Value at December 31, 2008

Assets:

Long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $20,430 $15,017 $5,413 $ —

Other long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,301 — — 22,301

$42,731 $15,017 $5,413 $22,301

Liabilities:
Derivative contract . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,320 $ — $5,320 $ —

$ 5,320 $ — $5,320 $ —

The Company’s long-term investments are classified within Level 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy as they
are valued using quoted market prices of certain investments, as well as quoted prices for similar
investments.

The Company’s other long-term investments are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and
consist of asset backed commercial paper.

The Company’s derivative contract is classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as it is determined
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, which uses readily observable market inputs, such as risk-free
interest rates and volatility factors.

The table below sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 financial assets
(other long-term investments) for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Balance at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 47,132
Foreign exchange losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,822)
Write-down of carrying value of other long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18,009)

Balance at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 22,301

• Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted FAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities” (“FAS 159”) which permits entities to choose to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair
value. The Company did not elect to apply the fair value option under this Statement to any instruments.

(q) Recent accounting pronouncements

• In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised 2007),
“Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141(R)”). SFAS 141(R) changes accounting for acquisitions that close
beginning in 2009. More transactions and events will qualify as business combinations and will be accounted
for at fair value under the new standard. SFAS 141(R) promotes greater use of fair values in financial
reporting. Some of the changes will introduce more volatility into earnings. SFAS 141(R) is effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently assessing the impact that
SFAS 141(R) may have on its financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

• In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160
establishes accounting and reporting standards pertaining to (i) the nature and classification of the
noncontrolling interest in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, (ii) attributing net income
and comprehensive income to the parent and the noncontrolling interest, (iii) changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary, and (iv) the deconsolidation of subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. SFAS 160 requires retroactive adoption of the
presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. SFAS 160 requires the classifi-
cation of the noncontrolling interest as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. The Company is
currently assessing the impact that SFAS 160 may have on the financial position, results of operations, and
cash flows.

• In November 2008, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 08-6,
“Equity Method Investment Accounting Considerations” (“EITF 08-6”), which clarifies the accounting for
certain transactions and impairment considerations involving equity method investments. EITF 08-6
provides guidance on a number of factors, including, determination of the initial carrying value of an
equity method investment, performing an impairment assessment of an underlying indefinite-lived intan-
gible asset of an equity method investment, accounting for an equity method investee’s issuance of shares,
and accounting for a change in an investment from the equity method to the cost method. EITF 08-6 is
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently assessing the
impact EITF 08-6 may have on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

• In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. APB 14-1, “Accounting for Convertible
Debt Instruments That May be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)” (“FSP
APB 14-1”). FSPAPB 14-1 applies to convertible debt instruments that, by their stated terms, may be settled
in cash (or other assets) upon conversion, including partial cash settlement, unless embedded conversion
option is required to be separately accounted for as a derivative under FAS 133. Convertible debt instruments
within the scope of FSP APB 14-1 are not addressed by the existing APB 14-1. FSP APB 14-1 requires that
the liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments within the scope of FSP APB 14-1 be
separately accounting for in a manner that reflects the entity’s nonconvertible borrowing rate. This requires
an allocation of the convertible debt proceeds between the liability component and the embedded conversion
option (i.e., the equity component). The difference between the principal amount of the debt and the amount
of the proceeds allocated to the liability component will be reported as a debt discount and subsequently
amortized to earnings over the instrument’s expected life using the effective interest method. FSPAPB 14-1
is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and will be applied retrospectively to all
periods presented. The Company is currently assessing the impact of FSP APB 14-1 may have on its
financial position, result of operations and cash flows.

3. EXPLORATION EXPENSES

Generally, exploration costs are charged to operations in the period incurred until such time as it has been
determined that a property has economically recoverable reserves, at which time subsequent exploration costs and
the costs incurred to develop a property are capitalized. Included in exploration costs are engineering and
development costs associated with the Company’s Oyu Tolgoi Project located in Mongolia. It is expected that
the Company will commence capitalizing costs of this nature once an Investment Agreement with the Government
of Mongolia is finalized.
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3. EXPLORATION EXPENSES (Continued)

Ivanhoe Mines incurred exploration and development costs as follows:

2008 2007
Years Ended December 31,

Mongolia

Oyu Tolgoi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $155,999 $245,520

Coal Division . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,696 14,760

Other Mongolia Exploration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,560 14,595

207,255 274,875

Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,457 22,096

Indonesia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,547 3,669

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,022 3,384

$260,281 $304,024

4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In February 2005, Ivanhoe Mines sold the Savage River Iron Ore Project (the “Project”) in Tasmania, Australia
for two initial payments totalling $21.5 million, plus a series of five contingent, annual payments that commenced
on March 31, 2006. The annual payments are based on annual iron ore pellet tonnes sold and an escalating price
formula based on the prevailing annual Nibrasco/JSM pellet price.

In 2006, Ivanhoe Mines received the first annual contingent payment of $28.2 million. In 2007, Ivanhoe Mines
received the second annual contingent payment of $20.3 million. In 2008, Ivanhoe Mines received the third annual
contingent payment of $29.2 million. At December 31, 2008 Ivanhoe Mines has accrued $28.0 million in relation to
the fourth contingent annual payment due in March 2009.

To date, Ivanhoe Mines has received $99.2 million in proceeds from the sale of the Project.

5. INVESTMENT HELD FOR SALE

As part of the agreement that established a strategic partnership with Rio Tinto International Holdings Ltd.
(“Rio Tinto”) in 2006, Ivanhoe Mines agreed to divest all of its business interests and assets in Myanmar —
including its indirect interest in the Monywa Copper Project — that were held through its Monywa subsidiary. On
February 27, 2007, Ivanhoe Mines transferred ownership of the Monywa subsidiary to a company owned by an
independent third-party trust (the “Trust”) in consideration for a promissory note. The sole purpose of the Trust is to
sell the shares of the Monywa subsidiary to one or more arm’s-length third parties. Other than the promissory note,
Ivanhoe Mines retains no interest in the Monywa subsidiary or any of its assets.

Upon transfer of the Myanmar assets to the Trust effective February 27, 2007, Ivanhoe Mines ceased
accounting for the investment held for sale under the equity method due to an inability to exercise significant
influence. The investment held for sale is now accounted for under the cost method.

At December 31, 2007, Ivanhoe Mines reviewed the carrying value of the investment held for sale and
concluded it was impaired. As a result of this review Ivanhoe Mines recorded a $134.3 million write-down of the
carrying amount of the investment held for sale.
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2008 included SouthGobi’s balance of $10.3 million (Decem-
ber 31, 2007 — $1.4 million) and Ivanhoe Australia’s balance of $40.5 million (December 31, 2007 —
$0.1 million), which were not available for Ivanhoe Mines’ general corporate purposes.

7. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2008 2007
December 31,

Contingent income (Note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $28,045 $23,280

Trade receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,743 —

Refundable taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,988 12,537

Related parties (Note 25) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 142 248

Accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,090 361

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 512 650

$47,520 $37,076

8. INVENTORIES

2008 2007
December 31,

Stockpiles. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $13,158 $ —

Materials and supplies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,978 1,996

$16,136 $1,996

9. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

2008 2007
December 31,

Investments in Companies subject to significant influence:

Altynalmas Gold Ltd. (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $31,290 $ —

Exco Resources N.L. (b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,785 —

Jinshan Gold Mines Inc. (c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 5,354
Investments “available for sale” (d) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,870 46,656

$55,945 $52,010

(a) On October 3, 2008, Ivanhoe Mines closed an agreement with several strategic partners whereby Altynalmas
issued shares to acquire a 100% participating interest in BMV and a 100% participating interest in Intergold
Capital LLP (“IGC”). Both IGC and BMV are limited liability partnerships established under the laws of
Kazakhstan that are engaged in the exploration and development of minerals in Kazakhstan. As a result of this
transaction, Ivanhoe Mines’ investment in Altynalmas was diluted to 49%. Ivanhoe Mines ceased consol-
idating Altynalmas on October 3, 2008 and commenced equity accounting for its investment.
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9. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (Continued)
December 31,

2008

Amount due from Altynalmas on commencement of equity accounting . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 51,112
Advances and accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,885

Amount due from Altynalmas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,997
Carrying amount of equity method investment on commencement of equity

accounting . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (20,438)
Equity losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,269)

(26,707)

Net investment in Altynalmas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 31,290

Amounts advanced to Altynalmas bear interest compounded monthly at a rate per annum equal to the one
month London Inter-bank Offered Rate plus 3.0% and are due on demand.

(b) During 2007, Ivanhoe Mines purchased 26.4 million common shares of Exco Resources N.L. (“Exco”) and
21.1 million Exco share purchase options for a total cost of $6,726,000 (Aud$7,920,000). Each Exco share
purchase option was exercisable until June 1, 2008 to purchase an additional Exco common share at a price of
Aud$0.35.

During May 2008, Ivanhoe Mines exercised its full option entitlement of 21.1 million Exco share purchase
options to acquire 21.1 million shares of Exco at a cost of $6,926,000 (Aud$7,392,000). Also during June 2008,
Ivanhoe Mines acquired an additional 3.0 million shares of Exco at a cost of $990,000 (Aud$1,050,000). As a
result of these purchases and the subsequent appointment of an Ivanhoe Mines’ representative to the Board of
Directors of Exco, Ivanhoe Mines commenced equity accounting for its investment in Exco on July 1, 2008.

During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded a $3,015,000 (Aud$4,291,000) equity loss on this investment. At
December 31, 2008 the carrying value of Ivanhoe Mines’ investment in Exco was greater than its share of the
underlying book value of Exco’s net assets by approximately $1,662,000 (Aud$2,572,000). This difference has
resulted in an other-than-temporary impairment charge on Ivanhoe Mines investment in Exco of $1,662,000.

At December 31, 2008, the market value of Ivanhoe Mines’ 19.9% investment in Exco was $2,560,000
(Aud$3,643,000).

(c) During May 2008, Ivanhoe Mines completed the sale of 67.5 million shares of Jinshan Gold Mines Inc.
(“Jinshan”) and the Jinshan note receivable (Note 11) for total proceeds of $216,730,000 (Cdn$217,662,000).
This transaction resulted in a gain on sale of $201,428,000 being recognized.

During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded a $809,000 (2007 — $9,165,000) equity loss on its investment in
Jinshan.
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9. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (Continued)

(d) Investments “available for sale”

Equity
Interest

Cost
Basis

Unrealized
Loss

Fair
Value

Equity
Interest

Cost
Basis

Unrealized
Gain

Fair
Value

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Entrée Gold Inc. (i) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14.6% $19,957 $(8,635) $11,322 14.8% $19,957 $13,354 $33,311

Exco Resources N.L. (Note 9 (b)) . . . — — — — 12.0% 6,726 2,075 8,801

Jinshan Gold Mines Inc. (ii) . . . . . . . 0.9% 554 — 554 — — — —

Intec Ltd. (iii) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.1% 521 — 521 6.1% 916 1,726 2,642

GoviEx Gold Inc. (iv) . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.5% 1,043 — 1,043 — — — —

Ivanhoe Nickel & Platinum Ltd. (v) . . 1.9% 4,370 — 4,370 — — — —

Other (vi) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 60 — 60 — 1,559 343 1,902

$26,505 $(8,635) $17,870 $29,158 $17,498 $46,656

(i) During 2007, Ivanhoe Mines exercised 2.5 million share purchase warrants of Entrée Gold Inc. (“Entrée”)
to acquire 1.2 million shares of Entrée at a cost of $3,340,000 (Cdn$3,552,000).

Also during 2007 Ivanhoe Mines acquired an additional 2.1 million shares of Entreé at a total cost of
$6,460,000 (Cdn$6,385,000).

(ii) During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines exercised its full warrant entitlement of 1.5 million Jinshan warrants to
acquire 1.5 million shares of Jinshan at a cost of $3,776,000 (Cdn$3,750,000).

Also during 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded an other-than-temporary impairment of $3,223,000 against
this investment based on an assessment of the fair value of Jinshan.

(iii) During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines acquired 6.9 million shares of Intec Ltd. (“Intec”) at a cost of $328,000
(Aud$343,000).

Also during 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded an other-than-temporary impairment of $724,000 against this
investment based on an assessment of the fair value of Intec.

During 2007, Ivanhoe Mines sold 5.4 million shares of Intec for $1,163,000. These transactions resulted
in a gain on sale of $1,018,000 being recognized.

(iv) During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines acquired 1.0 million shares of GoviEx Gold Inc. (“GoviEx”) in exchange for
a geophysics exploration team and certain mineral exploration equipment.

Also during 2008, Ivanhoe Mines acquired an additional 42,500 shares of GoviEx at a cost of $43,000.

(v) During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines acquired 1.0 million common shares of Ivanhoe Nickel and Platinum Ltd.
(“Ivanplats”) and 3.4 million Ivanplats special warrants in exchange for 2.2 million common shares of
Ivanhoe Mines.

(vi) During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded an other-than-temporary impairment of $1,451,000 against the
investment in Redox Diamonds Ltd. (“Redox”) based on an assessment of the underlying fair value of
Redox’s net assets.

Also during 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded an other-than-temporary impairment of $43,000 against other
investments based on an assessment of their fair values.
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10. OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

At December 31, 2008, the Company held non-bank-sponsored asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”)
issued by a number of trusts with an original cost of $60.2 million. This ABCP was rated by DBRS as R-1 (high) at
the date of investment and met the criteria of the Company’s investment policy. An R-1 (high) rating by DBRS is the
highest rating for commercial paper. These investments matured during the third quarter of 2007 but, as a result of
liquidity issues in the ABCP market, did not settle on maturity.

On August 16, 2007, it was announced that a group representing banks, asset providers and major investors had
agreed to a standstill with regard to all non-bank sponsored ABCP (the “Montreal Proposal”). Under the proposal,
the affected ABCP was to be converted into term floating-rate notes maturing no earlier than the scheduled
termination dates of the underlying assets. The Montreal Proposal called for investors to continue to roll their ABCP
during the standstill period. The Company was not a signatory to this agreement.

On September 6, 2007, a pan-Canadian restructuring committee (the “Committee”) consisting of major
investors was formed to propose a solution to the liquidity problem affecting the ABCP market. On March 17, 2008,
the Committee filed an application in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the “Court”) under the Companies’
Creditors Arrangement Act asking the Court to call a meeting of the ABCP noteholders. On March 20, 2008, the
Committee made available additional documents outlining the details of the proposed restructuring plan. On
April 25, 2008, the plan was approved by the noteholders and was sanctioned by the Court in June 5, 2008 (the
“Sanction Order”). On June 25 and 26, 2008, the Court of Appeal for Ontario heard motions from a group of
Montreal Proposal ABCP holders seeking leave to appeal, and an appeal of, the Sanction Order (the “Appeal”). The
Appeal was heard and a denial decision was rendered on August 18, 2008. Some of these noteholders (including
Ivanhoe Mines) sought leave to appeal that decision to the Supreme Court of Canada (the “SCC”). On September 19,
2008, the SCC announced that it would not grant leave to hear the appeal. On December 24, 2008, an agreement was
reached with all key stakeholders to amend the terms of the Committee Restructuring Plan (the “Amended Plan”).

On January 12, 2009, the Court granted the Amended Plan Implementation Order. On January 21, 2009, the
Amended Plan restructuring was completed. Upon closing of the Amended Plan, the Company received:

• $22.7 million of MAV2 Class A-1 Notes;

• $22.7 million of MAV2 Class A-2 Notes;

• $4.1 million of MAV2 Class B Notes;

• $1.5 million of MAV2 Class C Notes;

• $1.3 million of MAV2 IA Class 1 Notes;

• $1.0 million of MAV2 IA Class 2 Notes;

• $0.9 million of MAV2 IA Class 3 Notes;

• $1.2 million of MAV2 IA Class 13 Notes;

• $1.6 million of MAV3 TA Class 14 Notes; and

• $3.2 million of MAV3 TA Class 25 Notes.

There is a significant amount of judgment required in estimating the amount and timing of cash flows
associated with the new long-term notes. The Company has estimated the fair value of the notes considering
information provided on the restructuring, the best available public information regarding market conditions and
other factors that a market participant would consider for such investments.
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10. OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (Continued)

The Company has used a discounted cash flow approach to value the notes incorporating the following
assumptions:

Accrued Interest from August 2007: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2.7 million

Bankers Acceptance Rate: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.5%

Discount Rates: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9% to 25%

Maturity Dates: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.92 years

Expected Return of Principal:

A-1 Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100%

A-2 Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100%

B Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10%

C Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0%

IA Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0%

TA Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100%

Based on the discounted cash flow model as at December 31, 2008, the fair value of the Company’s long-term
notes was estimated at $22.3 million. As a result of this valuation, the Company recorded a write-down of
$18.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 in addition to the $24.5 million recorded in 2007.

Continuing uncertainties regarding the value of the assets that underlie the notes, the amount and timing of
cash flows and changes in general economic conditions could give rise to a further change in the fair value of the
Company’s investment in the notes, which would impact the Company’s results from operations. A 1.0% increase,
representing 100 basis points, in the discount rate will decrease the fair value of the long-term notes by
approximately $1.5 million.

11. NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM RELATED PARTY

On June 26, 2007, Ivanhoe Mines participated in Jinshan’s private placement of senior unsecured promissory
notes. Ivanhoe Mines purchased $7.0 million (Cdn$7.5 million) of units. Each unit consisted of one promissory note
and 200 transferable share purchase warrants. Each note had a par value of Cdn$1,000 and earned 12% interest per
annum, paid quarterly. Each warrant was exercisable into one common share for twenty-four months from the date
of closing and had an exercise price of Cdn$2.50 per share.

Ivanhoe Mines disposed of the Jinshan note receivable as part of the transaction that took place in May 2008
(Note 9 (c)). As a part of the Jinshan sale transaction, Ivanhoe Mines retained the share purchase warrants and
subsequently exercised its entitlement (Note 9 (d) (ii)) in June 2008.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

Accumulated
Depletion and
Depreciation,

Including
Write-downs

Net Book
Value Cost

Accumulated
Depletion and
Depreciation,

Including
Write-downs

Net Book
Value

2008 2007
December 31,

Mining properties

Bakyrchik Mining Venture,
Kazakhstan (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ 87,541 $ (87,541) $ —

Mining plant and equipment

Bakyrchik Mining Venture,
Kazakhstan (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ 3,107 $ (3,107) $ —

Other mineral property interests

Oyu Tolgoi, Mongolia (b) . . . . . . . . . $ 43,860 $ (6,274) $ 37,586 $ 43,740 $ (6,255) $ 37,485

Ovoot Tolgoi, Mongolia (c) . . . . . . . 13,969 (64) 13,905 416 (53) 363

Cloncurry, Australia (d) . . . . . . . . . . 20,291 (126) 20,165 6,293 (126) 6,167

Mamahak, Indonesia (e) . . . . . . . . . . 13,182 — 13,182 — — —

Other exploration projects . . . . . . . . . 1,270 (62) 1,208 1,271 (62) 1,209

$ 92,572 $ (6,526) $ 86,046 $ 51,720 $ (6,496) $ 45,224

Other capital assets

Oyu Tolgoi, Mongolia (b) . . . . . . . . . $ 17,925 $(10,736) $ 7,189 $ 23,614 $ (9,634) $ 13,980

Ovoot Tolgoi, Mongolia (c) . . . . . . . 42,833 (437) 42,396 1,393 (269) 1,124

Cloncurry, Australia (d) . . . . . . . . . . 3,364 (706) 2,658 2,745 (400) 2,345

Other exploration projects . . . . . . . . . 6,547 (5,825) 722 2,187 (1,793) 394

$ 70,669 $(17,704) $ 52,965 $ 29,939 $ (12,096) $ 17,843

Capital works in progress

Oyu Tolgoi, Mongolia (b) (f) . . . . . . $ 53,466 $ — $ 53,466 $144,878 $ — $144,878

Ovoot Tolgoi, Mongolia (c) . . . . . . . 6,804 — 6,804 — — —

Bakyrchik Mining Venture,
Kazakhstan (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 17,678 — 17,678

$ 60,270 $ — $ 60,270 $162,556 $ — $162,556

$223,511 $(24,230) $199,281 $334,863 $(109,240) $225,623

(a) Ivanhoe Mines placed the Bakyrchik Mining Venture on a care and maintenance basis in 1998. As a result of
the transaction described in Note 9 (a), the Bakyrchik Mining Venture ceased being consolidated on October 3,
2008.

(b) Ivanhoe Mines has a 100% interest in the Oyu Tolgoi copper-gold project located in Mongolia. In 2007, the
project’s four mining licenses were re-issued as Special Permits for Mining, which are each valid for 30 years
and may be extended two times for 20 years per extension.

Capital works in progress at December 31, 2008 consisted mainly of surface assets being constructed at Oyu
Tolgoi for Shaft No. 1, Shaft No. 2, and the concentrator.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

A significant portion of exploration expenses incurred during the year relate directly to the development of
Oyu Tolgoi. Included in exploration expenses are shaft sinking, engineering, and development costs that have
been expensed and not capitalized (Note 3).

(c) Ivanhoe Mines, through it’s majority owned subsidiary, SouthGobi, holds a 100% interest in the Ovoot Tolgoi
coal project located in Mongolia. In 2007, the Ovoot Tolgoi coal project’s mining license was granted for its
open-pit coal mine, which is valid for 30 years. In 2008, SouthGobi received its permit to mine for the Ovoot
Tolgoi open pit operations.

(d) Ivanhoe Mines through it’s majority owned subsidiary, Ivanhoe Australia, owns certain copper-gold and
uranium mining and exploration leases in Queensland, Australia.

(e) Ivanhoe Mines, through it’s majority owned subsidiary, SouthGobi, holds a 85% working interest in the
Mamahak coal project located in Indonesia.

(f) During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines received $121.5 million from Rio Tinto from the sale of large equipment to be
used in the construction of the Oyu Tolgoi copper and gold mining complex in Mongolia under an equipment-
sale agreement that was executed in August 2008 between Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto. Rio Tinto can require
Ivanhoe Mines to purchase the equipment that has been sold to Rio Tinto — and any other equipment
purchased by Rio Tinto as part of this agreement — if an acceptable Investment Agreement is reached with the
Government of Mongolia. Ivanhoe Mines also has a right of first refusal to repurchase the equipment if Rio
Tinto deems it appropriate to use the equipment elsewhere.

13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2008 2007
December 31,

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $24,449 $ 55,349
Payroll and other employee related payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 617 974

Accrued construction costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,820 49,008

Amounts payable to related parties (Note 25) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,217 3,979

$41,103 $109,310

14. AMOUNTS DUE UNDER CREDIT FACILITIES

In October 2007, Ivanhoe Mines obtained non-revolving bank loans which are due on demand and secured
against certain of the ABCP products (Note 10).
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15. CONVERTIBLE CREDIT FACILITY

2008 2007
December 31,

Principal amount of convertible credit facility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $350,000 $150,000

Accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,165 2,379

374,165 152,379

(Deduct) add

Beneficial conversion feature . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (28,883) (11,869)

Share purchase warrants. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,403) (3,557)
Accretion of discount. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,249 901

$349,128 $137,854

In September 2007, Rio Tinto provided Ivanhoe Mines with a $350.0 million convertible credit facility to
finance ongoing mine development activities at the Oyu Tolgoi Project pending the finalization of an Investment
Agreement between Ivanhoe Mines and the Government of Mongolia. In October 2007, Ivanhoe Mines made an
initial draw against the credit facility of $150.0 million. A second draw of $100.0 million was made in January 2008.
The final draw on the credit facility of $100.0 million was made in April 2008.

The proceeds of the credit facility were used to ensure that long-lead-time orders for the manufacture of mining
equipment such as trucks, tires, electric motors and ball mills, and development work at Oyu Tolgoi, remained on
schedule pending a satisfactory conclusion of an Investment Agreement with the Mongolian Government.

Amounts advanced under the credit facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the three-month London
Inter-Bank Offered Rate plus 3.3%, and mature on September 12, 2010. The outstanding principal amount and up to
$108.0 million in interest are convertible into a maximum of 45.8 million common shares of Ivanhoe Mines at a
price of US$10.00 per share and will be automatically converted into common shares upon maturity.

As part of the credit facility transaction, Rio Tinto also received share purchase warrants exercisable to
purchase up to 35.0 million common shares of Ivanhoe Mines at a price of US$10.00 per share for a period of five
years (Note 21 (c)). These warrants may be exercised on a basis proportionate to the amount of funds drawn down by
Ivanhoe Mines under the credit facility, plus interest.

Amounts drawn on the credit facility are allocated to the convertible credit facility liability and incremental
exercisable share purchase warrants based on their respective fair values at the time of the draw. The existence of a
beneficial conversion feature is then assessed using an effective conversion price based on the proceeds allocated to
the convertible credit facility liability in accordance with EITF 00-27, “Application of Issue No. 98-5 to Certain
Convertible Instruments”.

Allocating proceeds to share purchase warrants and, if necessary, a beneficial conversion feature results in
discounts on the convertible credit facility liability. These discounts are recognized as accretion expense over the
life of the credit facility using the effective interest rate method. Any unamortized balance of the beneficial
conversion feature discount will be expensed immediately upon conversion of the credit facility.

The accounting treatment for paid-in-kind interest is the same as that described above for amounts drawn on
the credit facility.

During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines capitalized $4.7 million of interest expense and $2.7 million of accretion expense
incurred on the convertible credit facility.
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16. LOANS PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES

These loans were payable to the Chairman of the Company or a company controlled by him. They were non-
interest bearing, unsecured and repayable in U.S. dollars. Repayment of these loans had been postponed until
Ivanhoe Mines received an aggregate of $111.1 million from the sale of the Savage River Project. At December 31,
2008, $99.2 million has been received from the sale with a further $28.0 million accrued as receivable (Note 4 and
7). During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines discharged the obligation and recorded a gain of $838,000 on settlement of the
debt.

17. DERIVATIVE CONTRACT

In November 2008, Ivanhoe Mines entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with a third party (the
“Transferor”) to acquire two million shares of SouthGobi for an initial payment of $7.0 million. Contempora-
neously, Ivanhoe Mines entered into an Option Agreement which provides the Transferor with the option to acquire
up to two million SouthGobi shares from Ivanhoe Mines at any time on or before the third anniversary of the
agreements at an escalating price agreed upon in the Option Agreement.

The Option Agreement is a freestanding contract indexed to the stock of a consolidated subsidiary and is
initially recorded at fair value and subsequently marked to fair value through earnings in accordance with
EITF 00-6, “Accounting for Freestanding Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled
in, the Stock of a Consolidated Subsidiary”.

The fair value of the option was determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, using the following
assumptions at December 31, 2008:

2008

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.05%
Expected life . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.4 years
Expected volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 84%
Expected dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ Nil

During 2008, Ivanhoe Mines recorded a derivative loss of $3.2 million on the Option Agreement.

18. INCOME TAXES

As referred to in Note 2 (b), Ivanhoe Mines must make significant estimates in respect of its provision for
income taxes and the composition of its deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Ivanhoe Mines’ operations are, in
part, subject to foreign tax laws where interpretations, regulations and legislation are complex and continually
changing. As a result, there are usually some tax matters in question that may, upon resolution in the future, result in
adjustments to the amount of deferred income tax assets and liabilities, and those adjustments may be material to
Ivanhoe Mines’ financial position and results of operations.

Ivanhoe Mines’ provision for income and capital taxes for continuing operations consists of the following:

2008 2007

Years Ended
December 31,

Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,003 $585

Capital taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 311 210

$4,314 $795
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18. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities for continuing operations at December 31, 2008 and 2007 arise from
the following:

2008 2007
December 31,

Deferred income tax assets

Long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 35,375 $ 3,764

Loss carry-forwards. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250,429 306,570
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,792 8,351

298,596 318,685

Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (298,596) (317,915)

Net deferred income tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 770

Deferred income tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,512 1,230

Long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 281

9,512 1,511

Deferred income tax liabilities, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,512 $ 741

A reconciliation of the provision for income and capital taxes for continuing operations is as follows:

2008 2007
Years Ended December 31,

Recovery of income taxes based on the combined Canadian federal and
provincial statutory tax rates of 31.0% in 2008 and 34.1% in 2007
applied to the net loss from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 66,276 $ 166,785

Deduct

Lower foreign tax rates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,593) (9,912)

Tax benefit of losses not recognized . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (57,376) (151,267)

Non-taxable portion of realized capital gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,714 —

Capital taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (311) (210)

Foreign exchange and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (24,024) (6,191)

Provision for income and capital taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (4,314) $ (795)

73

IVANHOE MINES LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Stated in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted; tabular amounts in thousands)



18. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

At December 31, 2008, Ivanhoe Mines had the following unused tax losses from continuing operations, for
which no deferred income tax assets had been recognized:

Local
Currency

U.S. Dollar
Equivalent(i)

Expiry
Dates

Non-capital losses:

Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Canadian $ 147,040 $120,644 2009 to 2028

Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Australian $ 93,569 $ 65,741 (a)

Mongolia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mongolian Tugrik 975,849,140 $760,149 (b)
Mongolia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mongolian Tugrik 41,997,934 $ 32,715 2009 to 2018

Mongolia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mongolian Tugrik 50,223,018 $ 39,122 2009 to 2010

Indonesia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Indonesian Rupiah 137,714,378 $ 12,384 2012 to 2013

Singapore. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Singapore $ 3,442 $ 2,406 (a)

(i) Translated using the year-end exchange rate.

(a) These losses are carried forward indefinitely, subject to continuity of ownership and business tests.

(b) These losses are carried forward until production from a mine commences; thereafter, they can be amortized on
a straight-line basis over a period of ten years.

Ivanhoe Mines also has deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses in certain other foreign
jurisdictions that are not disclosed above, as it is currently highly unlikely that these items will be utilized.

Ivanhoe Mines had no unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. Under current conditions
and expectations, management does not foresee any significant changes in unrecognized tax benefits that would
have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

During 2008 and 2007, Ivanhoe Mines did not recognize any accrued interest or penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits within the statement of operations or balance sheet.

Ivanhoe Mines is subject to taxes in Canada, Mongolia, Australia, Indonesia and various foreign countries. The
tax years of major tax jurisdictions which remain subject to examination as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2001 to 2008

Mongolia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2000 to 2008

Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2003 to 2008

Indonesia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2006 to 2008
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19. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

2008 2007
December 31,

Balance, beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,160 $6,353

Increase (decrease) in obligations for:

Changes in estimates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,582 1,866

Amounts incurred . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11) —

Foreign exchange. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (546) 243

Accretion expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 429 698

Reduction on commencement of equity accounting (Note 9 (a)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,692) —

Balance, end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,922 $9,160

The total undiscounted amount of estimated cash flows required to settle the obligations is $20.1 million
(2007 — $34.1 million), which has been discounted using credit adjusted risk free rates ranging from 5.6% to
11.3%. The majority of reclamation obligations are not expected to be paid for several years and will be funded from
Ivanhoe Mines’ cash balances and environmental bonds restricted for the purpose of settling asset retirement
obligations.

20. MINORITY INTERESTS

At December 31, 2008 there were minority interests in SouthGobi and Ivanhoe Australia. Altynalmas, along
with its subsidiary BMV, ceased being consolidated on October 3, 2008 (Note 9 (a)).

SouthGobi Ivanhoe Australia Total
Minority Interests

Balance, December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007 . . . . $ — $ — $ —

Increase in minority interests arising from share
issuances by subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,847 8,784 37,631

Minority interests’ share of loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,224) (3,046) (14,270)

Minority interests’ share of other comprehensive loss
(Note 22) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (2,669) (2,669)

Balance, December 31, 2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17,623 $ 3,069 $ 20,692

21. SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Equity Incentive Plan

The Company has an Employees’ and Directors’ Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”), which
includes three components: (i) a Share Option Plan; (ii) a Share Bonus Plan; and (iii) a Share Purchase Plan.

(i) The Share Option Plan authorizes the Board of Directors of the Company to grant options to directors and
employees of Ivanhoe Mines to acquire Common Shares of the Company at a price based on the weighted average
trading price of the Common Shares for the five days preceding the date of the grant. Options vest over four years
and have five year contractual terms unless otherwise determined from time to time by the Board of Directors, on
the recommendation of the Compensation and Benefits Committee. The Share Option Plan also provides that these
options may, upon approval of the Board of Directors, be converted into stock appreciation rights.
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(ii) The Share Bonus Plan permits the Board of Directors of the Company to authorize the issuance, from time
to time, of Common Shares of the Company to employees of the Company and its affiliates.

(iii) The Share Purchase Plan entitles each eligible employee of Ivanhoe Mines to contribute up to seven
percent of each employee’s annual basic salary in semi-monthly instalments. At the end of each calendar quarter,
each employee participating in the Share Purchase Plan is issued Common Shares of the Company equal to 1.5
times the aggregate amount contributed by the participant, based on the weighted average trading price of the
Common Shares during the preceding three months.

The Company is authorized to issue a maximum of 37,000,000 Common Shares pursuant to the Equity
Incentive Plan. At December 31, 2008, an aggregate of 439,893 Common Shares were available for future grants of
awards under the plan.

Under SFAS No. 123(R), the value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the input of subjective assump-
tions, including the expected term of the option award and stock price volatility. The expected term of options
granted is derived from historical data on employee exercise and post-vesting employment termination behaviour.
Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s stock. These estimates involve inherent
uncertainties and the application of management judgment. In addition, the Company is required to estimate the
expected forfeiture rate and only recognize expense for those options expected to vest. As a result, if other
assumptions had been used, the recorded stock-based compensation expense could have been materially different
from that reported.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during 2008 and 2007 was Cdn$2.50 and
Cdn$5.39, respectively. The fair value of these options was determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model,
recognizing forfeitures as they occur, using the following weighted average assumptions:

2008 2007

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.86% 4.10%

Expected life . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.6 years 3.2 years

Expected volatility. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57% 51%

Expected dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ Nil $ Nil
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

A summary of stock option activity and information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at
December 31, 2008 is as follows:

Options
Available
for Grant

Number of
Common

Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Options Outstanding

(Expressed in
Canadian dollars)

Balances, December 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,961,648 13,644,434 $ 8.99

Increase in amount authorized . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000,000 — —

Options granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,915,500) 2,915,500 13.45

Options exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1,520,634) 7.15

Options cancelled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 475,400 (475,400) 8.32

Bonus shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (57,741) — —

Shares issued under share purchase plan . . . . . . . . . (28,561) — —

Balances, December 31, 2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,435,246 14,563,900 $10.10

Options granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,604,070) 5,604,070 5.68

Options exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (707,800) 5.70

Options cancelled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 649,700 (649,700) 7.49

Shares issued under share purchase plan . . . . . . . . . (40,983) — —

Balances, December 31, 2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 439,893 18,810,470 $ 9.04

At December 31, 2008, the U.S. dollar equivalent of the weighted average exercise price was $7.42
(December 31, 2007 — $10.12).

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was
$3.6 million and $9.5 million, respectively.

As at December 31, 2008, options vested and expected to vest totalled 18,810,470 (December 31, 2007 —
14,563,900) and had an aggregate intrinsic value of $0.9 million (December 31, 2007 — $10.2 million).
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at December 31,
2008:

Range of Exercise Prices
Number

Outstanding

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life (in years)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
per Share

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
per Share

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) (Expressed in
Canadian
dollars)

(Expressed in
Canadian
dollars)

$ 2.82 to $ 3.50 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,558,070 6.87 $ 2.82 — $ —

$ 3.51 to $ 7.69 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 754,500 1.65 7.23 442,700 7.38

$ 7.70 to $ 8.20 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,558,000 3.96 7.87 1,345,000 7.86

$ 8.21 to $ 8.99 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,183,000 4.01 8.42 590,000 8.73

$ 9.00 to $10.27 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,589,700 4.10 9.73 4,470,200 9.73

$10.28 to $12.70 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,712,200 4.47 12.22 1,319,600 12.28

$12.71 to $16.79 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,455,000 5.35 13.52 796,500 13.51

18,810,470 4.55 $ 9.04 8,964,000 $ 9.98

As at December 31, 2008 there was $24.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
stock options. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.9 years.

As at December 31, 2008 the aggregate intrinsic value for fully vested stock options was $Nil (December 31,
2007 — $10.3 million).

Stock-based compensation charged to operations was allocated between exploration expenses and general and
administrative expenses as follows:

2008 2007

Year Ended
December 31,

Exploration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $20,542 $11,669

General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,672 5,574

$29,214 $17,243

Stock-based compensation charged to operations was incurred by Ivanhoe Mines as follows:

2008 2007

Year Ended
December 31,

Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $13,106 $10,416

SouthGobi Energy Resources Ltd. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,506 6,827

Ivanhoe Australia Ltd. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,602 —

$29,214 $17,243

(b) Rio Tinto Placement

In 2006, Ivanhoe Mines and Rio Tinto formed a strategic partnership whereby Rio Tinto would invest in
Ivanhoe Mines and form a joint Ivanhoe Mines — Rio Tinto Technical Committee, to engineer, construct and

78

IVANHOE MINES LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Stated in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted; tabular amounts in thousands)



21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

operate Ivanhoe Mines’s Oyu Tolgoi project in Mongolia. The agreement provides for Rio Tinto to make
investments in the equity of Ivanhoe Mines, under defined conditions, totalling approximately $1.5 billion.

In October 2006, Rio Tinto completed a first private placement tranche under the agreement by purchasing
approximately 37.1 million shares at a price of $8.18 per share, for proceeds totalling $303.4 million.

Rio Tinto will take up a $388.0 million second tranche private placement following the satisfactory conclusion
of an Investment Agreement for the Oyu Tolgoi Project between Ivanhoe Mines and the Mongolian Government.
Rio Tinto has the option to exercise the second tranche earlier.

In addition to the two private placements, Rio Tinto was granted 92,053,044 warrants, divided into two series.
The lives of these warrants are determined by the date an approved Investment Agreement is reached. The Warrant
Determination Date within the warrant terms presented below is the earlier of the date an approved Investment
Agreement is reached or October 27, 2009.

The 46,026,522 Series A Warrants are non-transferable. Each warrant entitles Rio Tinto to purchase one
Common Share of the Company at a price of:

(i) $8.38 during the period commencing November 30, 2006 and ending 180 days following the Warrant
Determination Date; and

(ii) $8.54 during the period commencing 181 days after the Warrant Determination Date and ending
365 days after the Warrant Determination Date.

The 46,026,522 Series B Warrants are non-transferable. Each warrant entitles Rio Tinto to purchase one
Common Share of the Company at a price of:

(i) $8.38 during the period commencing November 30, 2006 and ending 180 days following the Warrant
Determination Date;

(ii) $8.54 during the period commencing 181 days after the Warrant Determination Date and ending
365 days after the Warrant Determination Date;

(iii) $8.88 during the period commencing 366 days after the Warrant Determination Date and ending
545 days after the Warrant Determination Date; and

(iv) $9.02 during the period commencing 546 days after the Warrant Determination Date and ending
725 days after the Warrant Determination Date.

During 2008, Rio Tinto received 243,772 shares and 1,440,406 additional share purchase warrants (the “Anti-
Dilution Warrants”), divided into two series. The lives of the Anti-Dilution Warrants are identical to the Series A
Warrants and Series B Warrants above. Each Anti-Dilution Warrant entitles Rio Tinto to purchase one Common
Share of the Company at a price of Cdn$3.15.

Ivanhoe Mines has recorded an amount of $23.2 million in shareholders’ equity, attributable to the fair value of
the Rio Tinto share purchase warrants and second tranche share issuance commitment. As at December 31, 2008, all
of the Series A Warrants, Series B Warrants and Anti-Dilution Warrants were outstanding.

(c) Rio Tinto Financing

As part of the credit facility transaction disclosed in Note 15, Rio Tinto received share purchase warrants
exercisable to purchase up to 35.0 million common shares of Ivanhoe Mines at a price of US$10.00 per share at any
time on or before October 24, 2012. These warrants may be exercised on a basis proportionate to the sum of all
amounts drawn down on the facility and interest added to the principal amount of the facility. As at December 31,
2008, 35.0 million share purchase warrants were exercisable.
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22. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2008 2007
December 31,

Accumulated OCI at beginning of year

Investments, net of tax of $nil, $nil . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17,498 $13,233

Currency translation adjustment, net of tax of $nil, $nil . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Non-controlling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

$ 17,498 $13,233

Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year:

Changes in fair value of investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(35,703) $ 5,235

Currency translation adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18,256) —

Non-controlling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,669 —

Less: reclassification adjustments for gains/losses recorded in earnings:

Investments:

Other than temporary impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,990 —

Gains realized on sale. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (970)

Less: reclassification on commencement of equity accounting:

Exco Resources N.L. (Note 9 (b)). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,580 —

Other comprehensive (loss) income, before tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (41,720) 4,265

Income tax recovery (expense) related to OCI . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(41,720) $ 4,265

Accumulated OCI at end of year

Investments, net of tax of $nil, $nil . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (8,635) $17,498

Currency translation adjustment, net of tax of $nil, $nil . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18,256) —

Non-controlling interests (Note 20) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,669 —

$(24,222) $17,498

23. OTHER INCOME/EXPENSE

2008 2007
December 31,

Gain on sale of equipment (Note 9 (d) (v)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 911 $ —

Loss on sale of equipment (Note 12 (f)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,996) —

Loss on derivative contract (Note 17) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,209) —

Gain on settlement of debt (Note 16) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 838 —

Listing fees — SouthGobi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,715) —

Balance, end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(14,171) $ —
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24. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Reconciliation of net loss to net cash flow used in operating activities

2008 2007
Year Ended December 31,

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(184,113) $(457,713)

Income from discontinued operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (33,995) (31,902)

Items not involving use of cash

Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,214 17,243

Accretion expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,087 1,599

Accrued mining property care and maintenance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 448 —

Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,271 4,222

Write-down of carrying values of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . 6,080 1,078

Share of income from investment held for sale, net of cash distribution. . — 23,428

Write-down of carrying value of investment held for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . — 134,309

Accrued interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,646) (982)
Accrued interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,054 2,378

Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,790 (9,270)

Share of loss of significantly influenced investees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,092 9,165

Write-down of carrying value of other long-term investments . . . . . . . . . 18,009 24,541

Gain on sale of long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (201,428) (1,018)

Write-down of carrying value of long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,103 —

Write-down of carrying value of loan receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 908

Loss on derivative contract . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,209 —

Gain on settlement of debt. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (838) —

Gain on sale of equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (911) —

Loss on sale of equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,996 —

Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,003 585

Minority interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14,270) —

Bonus shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 830

Net change in non-cash operating working capital items:

(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,688) (749)

Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,616) 3,317

Prepaid expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,669) 473

Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 142

(Decrease) increase in:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (34,931) 38,625

Cash used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(318,749) $(238,791)
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24. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Other supplementary information

2008 2007

Years Ended
December 31,

Interest paid. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $470 $169

Income taxes paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $311 $210

25. OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following tables summarize related party expenses incurred by Ivanhoe Mines, primarily on a cost-
recovery basis, with an officer of a subsidiary of Ivanhoe Mines, a company subject to significant influence by
Ivanhoe Mines, a company affiliated with Ivanhoe Mines, or with companies related by way of directors or
shareholders in common. The tables summarize the transactions with related parties and the types of expenditures
incurred with related parties:

2008 2007

Years Ended
December 31,

Global Mining Management Corporation (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,147 $ 8,577

Ivanhoe Capital Aviation LLC (b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,840 3,840

Fognani & Faught, PLLC (c). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 621 1,583

Ivanhoe Capital Pte. Ltd. (d) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 10

Ivanhoe Capital Services Ltd. (e) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 601 958

Rio Tinto plc (f) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,783 1,330

$17,992 $16,298

2008 2007

Years Ended
December 31,

Exploration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,783 $ 1,330

Legal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 621 1,583

Office and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,451 2,756

Salaries and benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,297 6,789

Travel (including aircraft rental) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,840 3,840

$17,992 $16,298

The above noted transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable at December 31, 2008, included $142,000 and $3,217,000,
respectively (December 31, 2007 — $248,000 and $3,979,000, respectively), which were due from/to a company
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25. OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

under common control, a company affiliated with Ivanhoe Mines, or companies related by way of directors in
common.

(a) Global Mining Management Corporation (“Global”) is a private company based in Vancouver owned
equally by seven companies, one of which is Ivanhoe Mines. Global has a director in common with the Company.
Global provides administration, accounting, and other office services to the Company on a cost-recovery basis.

(b) Ivanhoe Capital Aviation LLC (“Aviation”) is a private company 100% owned by the Company’s
Chairman. Aviation operates an aircraft which is rented by the Company on a cost-recovery basis.

(c) An officer of a subsidiary of Ivanhoe Mines is a partner with Fognani & Faught, PLLC, a legal firm which
provides legal services to Ivanhoe Mines.

(d) Ivanhoe Capital Pte. Ltd. (“ICPL”) is a private company 100% owned by the Company’s Chairman. ICPL
provides administration, accounting, and other office services in Singapore and London on a cost-recovery basis.

(e) Ivanhoe Capital Services Ltd. (“ICS”) is a private company 100% owned by the Company’s Chairman.
ICS provides management services out of Singapore and London on a cost-recovery basis.

(f) Rio Tinto owns 9.9% of Ivanhoe Mines. Rio Tinto provides engineering related services for the Oyu Tolgoi
Project on a cost-recovery basis.
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26. SEGMENT DISCLOSURES

Exploration Coal Corporate Consolidated
Year Ended December 31, 2008

REVENUE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 3,126 $ — $ 3,126
COST OF SALES

Production and delivery . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1,931) — (1,931)
Depreciation and depletion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (314) — (314)

COST OF SALES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (2,245) — (2,245)

EXPENSES
Exploration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (207,673) (52,608) — (260,281)
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (27,453) (27,453)
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,133) (244) (580) (4,957)
Mining property care and maintenance . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (10,342) (10,342)
Accretion of convertible credit facility . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (9,658) (9,658)
Accretion of asset retirement obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . (75) (10) (344) (429)
Write-down of carrying values of property, plant and

equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7) (504) (4) (515)

TOTAL EXPENSES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (211,888) (55,611) (48,381) (315,880)

OPERATING LOSS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (211,888) (52,485) (48,381) (312,754)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,396 1,857 9,929 13,182
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (17,599) (17,599)
Foreign exchange (losses) gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,483) (4,630) (56,833) (62,946)
Share of income from investment held for sale . . . . . . . — — — —
Write-down of carrying value of investment held for

sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —
Write-down of carrying value of long-term

investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,662) — (5,441) (7,103)
Write-down of carrying value of other long-term

investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (18,009) (18,009)
Gain on sale of long-term investment and note

receivable. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 201,428 201,428
Other (expense) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,996) (6,715) (1,460) (14,171)

(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND
OTHER ITEMS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (219,633) (61,973) 63,634 (217,972)
Provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (88) (121) (4,105) (4,314)
Share of loss of significantly influenced investees . . . . . (3,015) — (7,077) (10,092)
Minority interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,046 — 11,224 14,270

NET (LOSS) INCOME FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (219,690) (62,094) 63,676 (218,108)
INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS . . . — — 33,995 33,995

NET (LOSS) INCOME . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(219,690) $ (62,094) $ 97,671 $(184,113)

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 63,947 $ 62,496 $ 17,454 $ 143,897

TOTAL ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 206,349 $110,523 $425,329 $ 742,202

During the year ended December 31, 2008, all of the coal division’s revenue arose from coal sales in Mongolia
to two customers. Total revenues by customer were $1.9 million and $1.2 million.
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26. SEGMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Exploration Coal Corporate Consolidated
Year Ended December 31, 2007

REVENUE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ —
COST OF SALES

Production and delivery . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —
Depreciation and depletion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —

COST OF SALES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —

EXPENSES
Exploration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (280,862) (23,162) — (304,024)
General and administrative. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (27,074) (27,074)
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,633) (64) (525) (4,222)
Mining property care and maintenance . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (6,533) (6,533)
Accretion of convertible credit facility . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (901) (901)
Accretion of asset retirement obligations . . . . . . . . . . . (417) — (281) (698)
Write-down of carrying values of property, plant and

equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9) — (1,069) (1,078)

TOTAL EXPENSES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (284,921) (23,226) (36,383) (344,530)

OPERATING LOSS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (284,921) (23,226) (36,383) (344,530)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 103 44 12,789 12,936
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (2,547) (2,547)
Foreign exchange (losses) gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,872) 48 17,715 11,891
Share of income from investment held for sale . . . . . . . — — 427 427
Write-down of carrying value of investment held for

sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (134,309) (134,309)
Write-down of carrying value of long-term

investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —
Write-down of carrying value of other long-term

investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (24,541) (24,541)
Gain on sale of long-term investment and note

receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 1,018 1,018
Other (expense) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —

(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND
OTHER ITEMS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (290,690) (23,134) (165,831) (479,655)
Provision for income taxes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (166) — (629) (795)
Share of loss of significantly influenced investees . . . . . — — (9,165) (9,165)
Minority interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —

NET (LOSS) INCOME FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (290,856) (23,134) (175,625) (489,615)
INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS . . . — — 31,902 31,902

NET (LOSS) INCOME . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(290,856) $(23,134) $(143,723) $(457,713)

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 79,146 $ 1,031 $ 13,404 $ 93,581

TOTAL ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 261,339 $ 5,565 $ 263,266 $ 530,170
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26. SEGMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2008 2007
December 31,

Property, plant and equipment at the end of the year:

Mongolia. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $161,346 $197,830

Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,823 8,512

Indonesia. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,182 —

Kazakhstan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 17,678

Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 341 860

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,589 743

$199,281 $225,623

27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Ivanhoe Mines has, in the normal course of its business, entered into various long-term contracts, which
include commitments for future operating payments under contracts for drilling, engineering, equipment rentals
and other arrangements as follows:

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40,039

2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,079

2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,733

2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,642

2013 onwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,368

$46,861

As a result of the equipment-sale agreement (Note 12 (f)), Ivanhoe Mines may be obligated to purchase the
equipment that has been sold to Rio Tinto — and any other equipment purchased by Rio Tinto as part of the
agreement — once an acceptable Investment Agreement is reached with the Government of Mongolia.
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28. DISCLOSURES REGARDING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) The estimated fair value of Ivanhoe Mines’ financial instruments was as follows:

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

2008 2007
December 31,

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $384,110 $384,110 $145,694 $145,694

Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47,520 47,520 37,076 37,076

Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 144 144 144 144

Long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55,945 78,427 52,010 231,217

Other long-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,301 22,301 47,132 47,132

Note receivable from related party . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 7,512 7,512

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . 41,103 41,103 109,310 109,310

Amounts due under credit facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,963 15,963 17,050 17,050

Loans payable to related parties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 5,088 4,625

Derivative contract . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,320 5,320 — —

The fair value of Ivanhoe Mines’ long-term investments was determined by reference to published market
quotations, which may not be reflective of future values.

The fair value of Ivanhoe Mines’ other long-term investments, consisting of ABCP, was determined by
considering the best available data regarding market conditions for such investments, which may not be reflective of
future values.

The fair value of loans payable to related parties was estimated by discounting future payments to their present
value.

The fair values of Ivanhoe Mines’ remaining financial instruments were estimated to approximate their
carrying values, due primarily to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

(b) Ivanhoe Mines is exposed to credit risk with respect to its accounts receivable. The significant concen-
trations of credit risk are situated in Mongolia and Australia. Ivanhoe Mines does not mitigate the balance of this
risk in light of the credit worthiness of its major debtors.

(c) Ivanhoe Mines is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to the variable rates of interest incurred on the
convertible credit facility (Note 15) and amounts due under credit facilities (Note 14). Interest rate risk is
concentrated in Canada. Ivanhoe Mines does not mitigate the balance of this risk.
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Oyu
Tolgoi

Ovoot
Tolgoi

Mamahak

Cloncurry

Savage
River

Altynalmas

Oyu Tolgoi Project, Mongolia
Development of planned copper-gold 
mining complex and regional exploration

Ovoot Tolgoi Project, Mongolia
New coal mine in operation and ongoing 
exploration discoveries (SouthGobi Energy 
Resources)

Altynalmas Gold Projects, Kazakhstan 
Development of established gold resources 
(Ivanhoe Mines venture with Kazakh partners)

Mamahak Project, Indonesia 
Development of new, surface coal mine and 
exploration (SouthGobi Energy Resources)

Cloncurry Project, Australia 
Copper, gold, uranium, molybdenum and
rhenium discoveries and exploration 
(Ivanhoe Australia)

Savage River, Australia 
Iron-ore mine (sale proceeds)

This report is printed on recycled paper containing 
10% post-consumer waste and is recyclable.

COVER
Driving toward Hugo: Jumbo drill stabilizing rock walls
1,300 metres below the Gobi Desert at Oyu Tolgoi
in the tunnel being driven from Shaft #1 to provide
exploration access to the large, Hugo Dummett
copper-gold deposit.

IVANHOE MINES is an international mining, explo-
ration and development company with operations
focused in the Asia Pacific region.

Ivanhoe’s core assets are:
Its 100% ownership of the Oyu Tolgoi copper and
gold discoveries and planned mining and process-
ing complex now in an advanced, pre-construction
development stage in Mongolia’s South Gobi 
region. Oyu Tolgoi is the world’s largest undevel-
oped copper-gold porphyry deposit.

Its 80% shareholding in Asia-based coal miner
SouthGobi Energy Resources (SGQ:TSXv). South-
Gobi is expanding its sales to customers in
China of high-quality coal from the company’s
new Ovoot Tolgoi Mine in southern Mongolia and
developing a new coal mine in East Kalimantan,
Indonesia.

Its 83% shareholding in Ivanhoe Australia
(IVA:ASX), a copper-gold-uranium exploration and
development company. Ivanhoe Australia has
reported significant discoveries of copper, molyb-
denum and rhenium on its large por tfolio of
tenements in the historic Mount Isa-Cloncurry
mining district during the past year.

Ivanhoe also is exploring for additional high-quality,
world-scale copper and gold discoveries in China
and is a principal shareholder in Altynalmas Gold,
which has significant gold resources in Kazakhstan.

Ivanhoe Mines’ shares are listed on the New York,
Toronto and NASDAQ stock exchanges under the
symbol IVN.
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